DEPOSIT ACCOUNT AGREEMENT



TABLE OF CONTENTS

FIRST CITIZENS BANK DEPOSIT ACCOUNT AGREEMENT

۱.	Terms and Conditions
	Important Information About Procedures for Opening a New Account
	Ownership of Accounts
	Authority of Agents
	Signatures
	Deposits to Your Account10
	Withdrawals from Your Account14
	Payment of Interest on Savings and Interest-Bearing Checking Accounts
	Time Deposit Accounts (Certificates of Deposit, Individual Retirement Accounts and KEOGHs)17
	Subaccounts for Checking Accounts20
	Stop Payment Orders
	Insufficient Funds/Overdrafts22
	Fees and Service Charges
	Security Interest27
	Setoff/Right to Freeze Account27
	ACH Transactions28
	Wire Transfers31
	Electronic Funds Transfer Services
	Real Time Payments Receipt Services33
	Miscellaneous35
	- Powers of Attorney35
	- Transfer or Assignment of Your Account; Legal Process Against Account
	– Claims and Disputes Concerning Your Account \dots 36
	- Costs and Attornevs' Fees 36

(I				
Agreement and Disclosure for Electronic Fund Transfer Services (Including Regulation E Disclosures)48 ATM Safety Tips58				
F	unds Availability Policy (Regulation CC)45			
S	ubstitute Check Notice44			
A	rbitration Provision43			
	Telephone Monitoring			
-	Interstate Banking			
-	Amendments to This Agreement 42			
-	Governing Law: Compliance with Applicable Laws 42			
-	Electronic Signatures and Records 41			
-	Account Documents			
-	Privacy of Account Information			
-	Refusal of Deposits, Closing of Account and Credit Reports			
-	Waiver of Terms			
-	Indemnification/Limitation of Liability 40			
-	Undeliverable Statements			
-	Alerts			
-	Your Contact Information; Change of Information (Addresses and Phone Numbers)			
-	Notices			
_	Check Orders			
-	Processing of Items – Third Party Processing; Automated Processing			
-	Review of Statements and Account Notices; Copies of Items			
	Unclaimed Accounts			

В. С.

D.

E. F.

WELCOME TO FIRST CITIZENS BANK

We are pleased you have chosen to bank with us and we look forward to a strong and lasting relationship. This agreement contains important information concerning your accounts with First Citizens Bank. Please read this agreement and keep it with your other bank records. This agreement and your other account documents, together with any changes we may later make to them, serve as our contract with you governing your deposit accounts. If you have any questions concerning your accounts, please contact us using the "Bank Contacts" information (Part F) at the end of this Agreement or visit your nearest First Citizens Bank office. Thank you for allowing us to handle your banking needs.

FIRST CITIZENS BANK DEPOSIT ACCOUNT AGREEMENT

This Deposit Account Agreement (this "Agreement") governs all deposit accounts with First-Citizens Bank & Trust Company and supersedes all previous Deposit Account Agreements. When you open or maintain a deposit account with us, you are agreeing to the terms of this Agreement. It is a legally binding contract. Your use of any deposit account will constitute your acceptance of the terms of this Agreement and the provisions of the applicable Disclosure of Products and Fees, which is incorporated herein by reference. We are not required to open an account for any party, and an account will not be opened and/or considered valid until we receive (i) all necessary information and documentation (if required) to open the account, and (ii) the initial deposit in collectible funds.

Funds in your deposit accounts are generally insured up to \$250,000 per depositor by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC). The FDIC provides separate coverage for deposits held in different account ownerships such as: (1) individual or single ownership accounts; (2) joint ownership accounts; (3) revocable trust accounts (including payable-on-death accounts); (4) corporations, partnerships and unincorporated association accounts; and (5) certain individual retirement accounts.

Funds are insured to \$250,000 per depositor for the total of funds combined in all of your other insured accounts with us. If you want a more detailed explanation or additional information, you may ask us or contact the FDIC.

To calculate your deposit insurance coverage, use the FDIC's Electronic Deposit Insurance Estimator (EDIE) at www.fdic.gov/edie. For questions about FDIC coverage limits and requirements visit www.fdic.gov/deposit/deposits or call toll-free at 1-877-ASK-FDIC.

As used in this Agreement:

- "Bank," "we," "our," and "us" refer to First-Citizens Bank & Trust Company.
- "Business day" is defined in our Funds Availability Policy contained in this Agreement unless otherwise defined in another section of this Agreement as the term pertains specifically to that section.
- "Depositor," "owner," "co-owner," "you," and "your" refer to the person, persons, or entity whose name or names appear on our records as account owner or owners.
- "Item" refers to any means or method by which funds are credited to or debited from your account; for example, a check, substitute check, remotely created check, draft, withdrawal order, ACH or electronic entry, funds transfer, electronic image of an item and/

or information in electronic form describing an item (collectively "electronic item"), or instructions given in person or by telephone, mail, or computer.

 "Include," "includes," "including," or "for example" are not to be construed as exclusive or as limiting the scope of the particular provisions in which those terms are used.

A. TERMS AND CONDITIONS

IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT PROCEDURES FOR OPENING A NEW ACCOUNT

• CUSTOMER IDENTIFICATION PROGRAM AND GETTING TO KNOW YOU REQUIREMENTS

To help the government fight the funding of terrorism and money laundering activities, federal law requires all financial institutions to obtain, verify, and record information that identifies each person who opens an account. Therefore, when you open an account, we will ask for your name, address, date of birth, drivers license number and/or other information, such as account purpose, that will allow us to identify you and also help us to understand your financial service needs so we can better serve you. We may also ask you to provide copies of one or more of your identifying documents. Our identity verification procedures require us to request certain information from third parties regarding you. You consent to the Bank obtaining such requested information from third parties as a condition of opening any account.

When you open an account in the name of a legal entity (such as a corporation, limited liability company, limited liability partnership, etc.), you will be required to certify the identity of (i) each beneficial owner of such legal entity (natural persons only) with 25 percent or more ownership interest in such legal entity, and (ii) one individual with significant managerial control of such legal entity. This will include providing certain identifying information for each of these individuals such as name, date of birth, address and/or other information. We may also ask to see copies of the identifying documentation for each individual such as a passport in the case of foreign individuals. We will also ask you to provide information that will help us understand the nature and purpose of the legal entity's relationship with us.

PROHIBITION ON FUNDING OF UNLAWFUL INTERNET GAMBLING

We prohibit "restricted transactions" as described in the Unlawful Internet Gambling Enforcement Act as implemented by the federal interagency rules entitled "Prohibition on Funding of Unlawful Internet Gambling" promulgated by the Federal Reserve Board and the Department of the Treasury and codified in 12 C.F.R. pt. 233 (Regulation GG) and 31 C.F.R. pt. 132. If you are a business customer, we will ask you if your business is engaged or involved in internet gambling. If you deny such involvement, we may ask you to provide us with a certification to that effect. If your business is or later becomes involved in internet gambling we may, in our discretion, do any one or more of the following: (i) decline to open an account for your business; (ii) close your account if it has already been opened; (iii) require you to provide us with a copy of the license issued to your business by the appropriate state or tribal authority that expressly authorizes you to engage in an internet gambling business, or, if such license is not available, a reasoned legal opinion confirming that your internet gambling business does not involve transactions considered "restricted transactions" under the federal Unlawful Internet Gambling Enforcement Act; and/or (iv) require you to provide us with a written certification (a) advising the Bank of any change in your legal authority to engage in an internet gambling business and (b) certifying that your systems for engaging in an internet gambling business are reasonably designed to ensure that such business will remain within the legal limits.

OWNERSHIP OF ACCOUNTS

JOINT ACCOUNTS

The co-owners of a joint account are those persons whose names appear on our account records as co-owners of the account. All funds in the account are owned jointly by the co-owners, regardless of who makes the deposit or whose money is deposited. Each co-owner has the right to withdraw funds from the account without limit and without the knowledge, consent or joinder of any other co-owner. We are authorized to recognize the signature and comply with the instructions of any co-owner or authorized signer or agent as to matters affecting the account. Each co-owner may appoint other co-owner as his or her agent. Any co-owner may appoint agents, authorized signers or attorneys-in-fact for the account. Once a joint account is opened, one co-owner cannot remove him or herself or another co-owner from the account unless we agree to and accept such change.

Each co-owner agrees to notify us promptly of the death of another co-owner. The treatment of the account upon the death of a co-owner depends upon the type of joint account created.

Traditionally-opened (those opened in person or by telephone) joint accounts may be "with survivorship," or "without survivorship" or "no survivorship." (Joint deposit accounts opened online may only be opened as "with survivorship.") "With survivorship" means that upon the death of a co-owner, the sums remaining in the account belong to the surviving co-owners, and we may pay such sums to them in equal shares. You agree that our payment of such amounts to the surviving co-owners is a complete and total discharge of our liability with respect to the funds in the account. "Without survivorship" or "no survivorship" means that upon the death of a co-owner, the account is owned by the decedent's estate and the surviving co-owners. Upon the death of a co-owner of a "without" or "no" survivorship account, we may require, at our option, withdrawals only upon the signatures of the surviving account owners and the legal representative of the decedent's estate, or we may pay the entire balance to the appropriate office of the court for distribution as the law may require, or we may pay the entire balance to the surviving co-owners and the decedent's estate.

You have the sole responsibility for meeting any requirements sYou have the sole responsibility for meeting any requirements set forth in applicable state law for the establishment of a joint account with right of survivorship. However, if you fail to meet any such requirements, you agree that, in the absence of any clear and convincing evidence on our records of a different intention at the time the account was created: (i) any account on which you are named on our records as co-owner with one or more other co-owners shall be a joint account with right of survivorship; (ii) the account shall have all the incidents described herein for joint accounts with right of survivorship; (iii) upon the death of a co-owner, the remaining

funds in the account shall belong to, and may be paid directly to, the surviving co-owner(s); and (iv) our payment of such amounts to the surviving co-owner(s) shall be a complete and total discharge of our liability with respect to the funds in the account. This provision is intended to create a joint account with right of survivorship by contract without regard to statutory formalities.

Special Note concerning North Carolina joint accounts: Joint accounts opened and maintained in North Carolina, including those accounts previously governed by Section 53-146.1 of the North Carolina General Statutes, are governed by Section 53C-6-6 of the General Statutes. Joint accounts opened prior to June 1989 may be governed by Section 41-2.1 of the General Statutes. If your account is governed by Section 41-2.1, you agree that in addition to the payment alternative specified in Section 41-2.1, we may, at our option, pay the portion of the account which would be payable to the Clerk of Court or the decedent's estate directly to the surviving co-owners or the surviving co-owners and the decedent's estate. Any such payment shall be subject to the collection rights of the personal representative of the decedent. You agree to indemnify and hold us harmless against any claims or losses which arise from such payment. Payment of the balance of the account to the surviving co-owners or to the surviving co-owners and the decedent's estate constitutes a contractual expansion of the payment options set forth in Section 41-2.1. Your continued use of a joint account originally created under Section 41-2.1 constitutes your acceptance of this modification, which shall be binding upon you and your estate.

Special Note concerning tenants-by-the-entireties accounts: Some states permit married individuals to hold deposit accounts iointly with their spouses as tenants-by-the-entireties. In the absence of clear and convincing evidence in our records of an intent to create a tenants-by-the-entireties account (i.e., a signature card signed by married owners in which tenants-by-the-entireties ownership is designated), you will hold any account in which you and your spouse are named as co-owners as joint tenants with right of survivorship (unless non-survivorship is indicated), unless state law prescribes otherwise. If your account is deemed to be held by you and a co-owner as tenants-by-the-entireties, either by contract or by state law, you acknowledge and agree that (i) each account owner may act for the other as his or her agent with respect to all matters and transactions concerning the account; (ii) each account owner retains individual responsibility for account maintenance, and we may deduct from account funds any fees, charges, expenditures, claims or losses caused by the mishandling of the account regardless of whether one or both account owners are responsible for causing the loss or expense; and (iii) in dealing with any and all potential claims against the account, whether by garnishment, levy, lien, execution or other claim, we are entitled to report the existence of the account and provide information and documentation about the account in the same manner as with any other joint account in responding to third party claims against the account. You acknowledge that we will not be required to make a determination as to the viability of any protection that may be available to you with respect to the account due to your status as tenants-by-the-entireties, and you agree to bear the responsibility of appearing before court and invoking any additional protection offered by your tenants-by-the-entireties ownership of the account.

PAYABLE ON DEATH (POD) AND STATUTORY REVOCABLE TRUST ACCOUNTS

You may establish a payable on death (POD) account and/or a statutory revocable trust account under applicable state law and designate one or more POD payees (also referred to herein as "beneficiaries") to receive the funds in the account at your death. In accordance with the laws in some states, we may restrict your designation of POD payees to natural persons and/or to limited entities such as trusts or non-profit organizations.

A revocable trust/POD account shall be treated as an individual/ joint account of the account owner(s). The account owner(s) have total ownership and control over the account during their lifetime(s), including the right to change a beneficiary. Upon the death of the last surviving account owner, the account balance belongs to the surviving beneficiaries, who then hold the account balance as joint tenants without right of survivorship unless applicable state law requires otherwise. Our payment of the account balance to the beneficiary(ies) designated on our account records (or to their heirs and designees) will be subject to presentation to us of any documentation we may require such as proof of death and/or identification. Payment to minor beneficiaries is subject to state law requirements. When there are multiple beneficiaries, we may pay the balance, at our option, (i) in equal shares by separate checks to the designated beneficiaries, or (ii) by issuing one check payable to all the beneficiaries and delivering the check to any one of them. Payments to any other claimants will be made in accordance with applicable law.

It is your responsibility to satisfy all of the requirements for a valid revocable trust/POD account. If all applicable requirements are not satisfied, we may treat your account as an individual/joint account without any trust or payable on death feature, and upon the death of the last surviving account owner, we may disburse the funds to the last surviving account owner's estate or elsewhere as may be required by law. We have no obligation at any time to notify any beneficiary of the existence of any revocable trust/POD account or the vesting of any interest in any revocable trust/POD account.

PERSONAL AGENCY ACCOUNTS (North Carolina) CONVENIENCE ACCOUNTS (Florida, Texas)

In North Carolina, personal agency accounts may be established under and are governed by Section 53C-6-8 of the North Carolina General Statutes. Convenience accounts may be established in Florida and Texas. In Florida, these accounts are established under and governed by Section 655.80 of the Florida Statutes; in Texas these accounts are established under and governed by Chapter 113 of the Texas Estates Code. In all three states, these accounts will be governed by the applicable statute as each may be amended from time to time.

In a personal agency or convenience account, you authorize your designated agent or convenience signer ("agent") to act on your behalf with regard to the account. Your agent will not have any ownership interest in your account. In addition to the powers given to your agent under the statute, you also hereby authorize your designated agent to perform any other act related to your deposit account. You will be responsible for all of the acts of your agent, even if your agent acts contrary to your specific instructions or your best interest or exceeds his or her authority. We will not be responsible for your agent's breach of fiduciary duty or the misapplication of funds from your account.

Your agent's authority will terminate upon your death, your written direction to us to terminate the agent's authority, your incapacity or mental incompetence (in North Carolina you may elect in writing to extend your agent's authority notwithstanding your subsequent incapacity or mental incompetence), or the occurrence of any other event which, as a matter of law, terminates the agent's authority. We may rely upon your agent's acts and instructions, however, until we have knowledge that his or her authority has been terminated and we have had a reasonable time to act upon that knowledge. You or your agent must promptly notify us when his or her authority has terminated, and your agent must notify us if he or she suspects that you have become incapacitated or mentally incompetent, even though you may not have been so legally adjudicated.

Upon your death, the account balance will be paid to the legal representative of your estate or to the Clerk of Superior Court for distribution in accordance with the law.

AGENCY AND FIDUCIARY ACCOUNTS

Any individual acting as an agent, guardian, conservator, personal representative, trustee, custodian or in some other fiduciary capacity ("fiduciary") must be designated to us as such on the signature card. It will otherwise be assumed that the account is owned in an individual capacity. We are authorized to follow the directions of the fiduciary regarding the account until we receive written notice that the fiduciary relationship has been terminated and we have had a reasonable time to act upon the notice.

Accounts may be opened by a person acting in a fiduciary capacity. A fiduciary is appointed to act on behalf of and for the benefit of another. We are not responsible for the actions of a fiduciary, including the misuse of funds. This account may be opened and maintained by a person, or persons named as a trustee under a written trust agreement, or as executors, administrators, or conservators under court orders. You understand that by merely opening such an account, we are not acting in the capacity of a trustee in connection with the trust nor do we undertake any obligation to monitor or enforce the terms of the trust or letters.

There may be instances where the bank will need to determine the beneficial ownership of pass-through fiduciary accounts to calculate appropriate FDIC insurance coverage. In this scenario, the bank will require all fiduciaries to provide an Alternative Recordkeeping File detailing the beneficial owners and relevant account balances associated with said pass-through account.

MINORS' ACCOUNTS

Accounts established as Uniform Transfers to Minors Act ("UTMA"), Uniform Gifts to Minors Act ("UGMA"), or Missouri Transfers to Minors Law ("MTML") accounts shall be governed by applicable state law. The custodian of a UTMA, UGMA, or MTML account agrees to notify us in writing immediately upon the death of the minor or at the time the minor attains the age of maturity as provided in applicable state law. After notifying us of either of these events, the custodian's authority over the account continues only to the extent allowed by law. Before we receive such notice, we may honor any checks or drafts written on the account or any withdrawals from the account without incurring any liability to the minor or to any third party, and the custodian will be liable to us for any loss or expense we incur because of the failure to give us prompt notice.

An account that is shown on our records in the name of a minor "by" an adult who is not a custodian of the minor under the UTMA, UGMA or MTML, or the minor's trustee, court-appointed guardian or other legally appointed representative, is referred to as a "minor by" account and is subject to the following rules. Beneficial ownership of the funds deposited in the account is vested exclusively in the minor, and the adult is the minor's agent. Control of the account is vested in the adult whose name appears on our account records until the minor reaches 18 years of age; however, we may at our discretion act on the instructions of either the minor or the adult with respect to the funds, and we shall have no obligation to notify the adult if we choose to act on the minor's instructions. If there is more than one adult named on our account records, each may act independently. We are not obligated to inquire about or investigate the application of the funds by the adult. We have no fiduciary responsibility to the minor or to the adult with respect to the account and no liability if the adult misappropriates funds in the account. If the adult (or if more than one adult on the account, the last of the adults to survive) dies before the minor reaches age 18, we may in our discretion (i) permit the naming of another adult on the account, (ii) transfer the funds to a duly appointed representative of the minor, (iii) transfer the funds to a UTMA account (or MTML account in Missouri) for the minor, (iv) pay the funds to the clerk of court to be held for the minor, or (v) otherwise transfer the funds as provided by applicable law.

In our sole discretion, we will open certain accounts in the name of a minor, or in the name of two or more individuals, one or more of whom is a minor, if the minor can provide government-issued identification in accordance with our standard account opening procedures. Any account opened by a minor in North Carolina is governed under the provisions of Section 533C-6-4 of the North Carolina General Statutes.

TRUST ACCOUNTS

If you have deposited money in your name as trustee under a written trust agreement or a will, you have created a fiduciary account and your responsibilities are those imposed by law and by the provisions of the trust agreement or will. If you die, we may not be able to release any funds until a successor trustee is appointed and all other technical legal requirements have been satisfied. We may require evidence satisfactory to us of the existence of the trust agreement or will, the identity of the trustee(s), and the authority of any trustee (or successor trustee) to act thereunder.

COURT ORDERED TRUST ACCOUNTS

Trust accounts established under court order (such as Coogan Trust Accounts) shall be governed by applicable law and established and held in accordance with directives from the court having jurisdiction over the account. We will require satisfactory evidence, in the form of original or certified copies of court orders, of authority to establish the account and to make any transfers, disbursements, or other withdrawals from the account. We may place a hold on the account, deny you access to the funds in the account, or take other actions with respect to the account, as directed by the court.

BUSINESS AND OTHER NON-PERSONAL ACCOUNTS

If the account is owned by a corporation, unincorporated association, trust, partnership, limited liability company, sole proprietorship, or other business or nonprofit entity, each person signing the signature card or any other account documents represents to us that the entity is validly and legally organized and existing and has authorized the opening of the account and that each person whose name is written or typed on the signature card and/or on a resolution is authorized and has complete authority to bind the entity in all transactions

regarding the account. We are authorized to follow the directions of any person designated as having authority or any person who has apparent authority to act on the entity's behalf until we receive written notice that the authority has been terminated and we have had a reasonable time to act upon that notice. You agree to furnish us all documents which we reasonably request to evidence authority to transact business with respect to the account. We may require that any resolutions affecting the account be on our standardized forms.

ACCOUNTS ACQUIRED FROM OTHER INSTITUTIONS

Over the years we have acquired deposit accounts from other financial institutions, including those of various savings and loans and savings banks. Many deposit accounts at savings and loans and savings banks were established pursuant to statutory provisions that parallel the banking statutes regulating multiple-party accounts. If we acquired your account from another financial institution, your account will be governed by the same statutes applicable to accounts opened at the Bank in the state where your account is maintained, as such statutes are amended from time to time. Your continued use of your account constitutes your acceptance of these modifications.

JOINT AND SEVERAL LIABILITY

Each owner or co-owner of your account is jointly and severally liable to us for all service charges and fees assessed against the account, all debts owed as a result of any overdrafts or lines of credit related to your account regardless of which owner or co-owner causes the overdraft or extension of credit (including all fees and finance charges), and all costs, losses, or liabilities of any kind arising out of or related to this Agreement or your account. Each owner is jointly and severally liable to us for the acts (whether authorized or not) of any co-owner, agent, or authorized signer in connection with your account.

PLEDGE OF ACCOUNT

The account owner, each account co-owner, and each authorized signer or agent has the right to pledge the account as security for the repayment of any debt (regardless of who is obligated to repay the debt) without the knowledge, consent, or joinder of any co-owner or any other person. Any such pledge shall survive the death of the person or persons who pledged the account and shall be binding on them and their respective heirs, personal representatives, successors and assigns and on all other persons who then have or thereafter acquire any interest in the account, including the account owner, any co-owner, beneficiary or POD payee, and their respective heirs, personal representatives, successors and assigns.

AUTHORITY OF AGENTS

- Each co-owner of an account. Each co-owner of a joint account appoints each other co-owner as his or her agent.
- Each authorized signer. Each person identified as an authorized signer on the signature card but not identified as an "owner" is an authorized signer/agent only and not an owner of the account.
- Any trustee designated as such in any trust account.
- Any agent designated as such in a personal agency or convenience account.
- Any person acting as an agent, guardian, conservator, personal representative, trustee, custodian, receiver or in some other fiduciary capacity with respect to an account.

- Any person designated as an agent by any account owner or co-owner.
- Any person acting as your attorney-in-fact under a power of attorney.
- Any person authorized to act with respect to an account by any resolution or other writing by any account owner or co-owner, including accounts owned by any business, organization, association and other entity.

Each agent, with respect to the account, is authorized to: (i) cash or negotiate in either the agent's name or the name of the account owner or co-owner(s) any item payable to any account owner or co-owner(s); (ii) deposit or endorse for deposit to the account of the account owner, any account co-owner, or the agent any item payable to any account owner or co-owner(s); (iii) withdraw funds from the account; (iv) sign checks, drafts, or negotiable orders of withdrawal and otherwise draw on the account; (v) stop payment on any item drawn on the account; (vi) draw upon any overdraft or other line of credit which may exist in connection with the account; (vii) pledge the account as security for the repayment of any debt (regardless of who is obligated to repay the debt); (viii) initiate wire transfers; (ix) authorize debits from and credits to the account: (x) obtain or revoke ATM cards and authorize and perform ATM transactions; (xi) obtain or revoke debit cards and authorize and perform debit card transactions; (xii) establish or discontinue online banking through our online banking services: (xiii) authorize and perform transactions through our Customer Care Center and/or through online banking; (xiv) link account to the online banking account of a related or unrelated individual or entity so the account is accessible for viewing and executing transactions by the individual owner or agents for the individual or for the entity holding the online banking account; (xy) authorize or revoke electronic fund transfers, including ACH transactions; (xvi) freeze or close the account; and (xvii) otherwise perform any other act relating to the account and transact any other business with respect to the account.

We may rely upon any instructions we receive from your agent relating to your account. You will be responsible for all of the acts of your agent, even if your agent acts contrary to your specific instructions or your best interest or exceeds his or her authority. We are not responsible for your agent's breach of fiduciary duty or misapplication of funds from your account.

SIGNATURES

AUTHORITY

We are authorized to recognize and honor your signature, and the signature of any co-owner, authorized signer or other authorized agent, and of any person authorized in any resolution or other writing, in the transaction of any business relating to your account. We will not be liable for honoring a check, draft, order or instruction bearing the genuine signature of any of the foregoing parties even though signed in a manner different from the signature of that person contained in any signature card, resolution, signature sample or other writing. If you make any changes to the signature authority on your account, you must give us reasonable time (at least two business days) to process your changes. We will not be liable to you for refusing to honor checks or other signed instructions if we believe in good faith that the signature appearing on the check or instruction may not be genuine. If you give information

about your account (such as our routing number and your account number) to a party (including, for example, a party who is seeking to sell you goods or services), any debit to your account initiated by the party to whom you gave the information is deemed authorized even if you do not physically deliver a check to such party, and we will not be liable for honoring the debit.

FACSIMILE SIGNATURE

The use of any facsimile signature (by rubber stamp or other mechanical means) is solely for your convenience and benefit. You authorize us to pay items on your account which purport to bear a facsimile signature regardless of who placed the facsimile signature on the item or the circumstances surrounding the use of the facsimile signature, even if it was made by an unauthorized person or with a counterfeit facsimile device. We may also accept facsimile signatures as endorsements on items payable to you that are cashed or deposited to your account. You have full responsibility to maintain the security of a facsimile signature device.

MULTIPLE SIGNATURES

Many banking resolutions, signature cards and items contain language that requires two or more signatures for items drawn on the account. Notwithstanding any language in the resolution, signature card or on the item to the contrary, you agree that any such provision is solely for your personal or internal control purposes. As long as an item bears at least one authorized signature, we are not liable to you if we pay an item that does not have the required number of signatures. This provision is not applicable to the extent multiple signatures are required by law or regulation.

DEPOSITS TO YOUR ACCOUNT

• ITEMS DEPOSITED

We may refuse to accept, accept for collection only, or return all or part of any deposit. Items we accept for deposit or collection are received by us for deposit and collection only. We act only as your collecting agent and assume no responsibility beyond the exercise of due care. Unless otherwise provided by your particular account disclosures, all items are provisionally credited to your account subject to final payment in cash or solvent funds or to revocation if the item is returned unpaid. We may disregard information on any item which we have taken for deposit or collection other than the identification of the payor bank, the amount shown in words in the space designated on the item for such information, endorsements, and any other information encoded into the MICR line pursuant to our usual procedures. We are not responsible for the default or negligence of correspondent banks, clearing houses or a Federal Reserve Bank, or for losses in transit. Special instructions for handling an item are effective only if made in writing and given to us along with the item in question. We are not responsible for deposits until we actually receive the deposits.

DEPOSIT SERVICES

We may offer you different methods for delivery of your deposits to us, including, for example, by in-person presentment to a branch teller, deposit by mail, deposit into our night depository facilities, delivery over-the-counter for later processing, delivery by courier service, and by electronic transmission. Your use of any of these deposit services is subject to any specific agreement we may have for such service, and any such agreements, as they may be amended from time to time, are incorporated herein by reference.

If you use any of these deposit services, you agree that: (i) we are not responsible for deposits until we actually receive the deposits at one of our branches or other processing facilities, and our records shall be conclusive as to our receipt of the deposits; (ii) you will comply with any requirements with respect to the containers, envelopes, bags or other equipment you must use for the deposits, and accompanying documentation or information; (iii) upon our receipt of the deposit, we will process the deposit in our usual manner of processing bank deposits (please note that any deposit made in a night deposit bag and/or dropped into a night depository facility will be handled as a night deposit and be subject to our Night Depository Agreement); (iv) any stamped deposit slip or other receipt we provide you when a deposit is delivered serves only to acknowledge our receipt of the deposit, will reflect the amount shown on the deposit ticket prepared by you, and does not constitute a validation or verification of the actual amount of the deposit; (v) unless otherwise provided by your particular account disclosures, we will provisionally credit the deposit to your account on the date of receipt in accordance with our funds availability policy (in the case of deposits made through our night depository facilities, the day we remove the deposit from the depository is the date of receipt, and this date may be different from the date the deposit is left in the night depository facility); and (vi) all deposits are subject to verification, and corrections will be made in our sole discretion as provided elsewhere in this Agreement.

MOBILE DEPOSITS

First Citizens Digital Banking account and have downloaded the First Citizens Mobile Banking app. Digital Banking is our online banking product designed for personal customers and business customers that do not need the more extensive online banking services offered through First Citizens' Business Online Banking (BOB) AdvantageTM. Deposits made through the Mobile Deposit service are governed by our Digital Banking Agreement, which is incorporated herein by reference. Such deposits are not subject to the terms of our Funds Availability Policy or the requirements of Regulation CC (Part C of this Agreement). Funds deposited through Mobile Deposit will generally be made available within three (3) business days of the day of deposit, although availability may be delayed further under certain circumstances. Funds deposited through Mobile Deposit on a business day before 9:00 p.m. Eastern time will be considered deposited on that day.

DEPOSITS OF GOVERNMENT PAYMENTS

If we are required to reimburse the government (state or federal) for all or any portion of any benefit or other payments deposited into your account for any reason, you agree that we may, without prior notice to you, deduct the amount returned to the government from your account or from any other account you have with us, unless the deduction is prohibited by law. If the funds in your account(s) are insufficient to reimburse us fully, each owner and co-owner is jointly and severally liable to us for the balance. We are not responsible for any payment that is credited or not credited to your account as a result of the error or negligence of the government.

• ELECTRONIC ITEMS AND SUBSTITUTE CHECKS

Unless we specifically agree, you may not deposit any substitute check (as that term is defined in the Federal Reserve Board's Regulation CC, 12 C.F.R. Part 229) that has not previously been handled by a bank in the U.S. collections process. If you do, you agree that

you will (i) be subject to all warranties and indemnities as provided by applicable law; (ii) be responsible for any losses you, we or another person suffers related to the substitute check(s); and (iii) indemnify and hold us harmless from and against any losses, costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees) incurred or sustained by us arising out of or in any way related to any claim, suit, legal or administrative action or proceeding asserted against us relating to the substitute check(s).

We have the right, as your collection agent, to truncate (meaning to convert to electronic form) items that you deposit in paper form, and to process the items for payment and collection in electronic form or in the form of substitute checks at our discretion. You understand and agree that when we truncate an item, the original item is destroyed. With respect to items that you deposit that are returned to us by the paying bank, we may (i) accept the returned items in electronic form or as substitute checks; (ii) truncate items that are returned in paper form and re-present them as electronic items or substitute checks; and (iii) reconvert any returned item to a substitute check for purposes of returning the item to you. For example, if we charge back a truncated item to your account, we can reconvert the item to a paper substitute check, and you can use that substitute check as the legal equivalent of the original check to enforce your rights against the drawer and endorsers.

You agree that you will be subject to the provisions of this Agreement and all rules, warranties and indemnities provided in the Uniform Commercial Code and other state or federal law with respect to deposited checks and items, regardless of the form (electronic or paper) in which the deposited check or item is processed for payment and collection. Substitute checks are subject to the rules, warranties and indemnities set forth in the Federal Reserve Board's Regulation CC (12 C.F.R. Part 229). Please refer to the section of this Agreement entitled "Substitute Check Notice" for information concerning your rights with respect to substitute checks.

Unless we specifically agree, you may not deposit items with us electronically. The electronic deposit of items is subject to a separate written agreement between you and us. If we have agreed to accept deposits electronically from you, such deposits will be subject to the provisions of this Agreement except as specifically provided otherwise in your separate electronic deposit agreement.

IDENTIFICATION OF ACCOUNT

You are responsible for any loss or expense caused by your failure to properly identify the account to which a deposit is made or intended to be made.

ENDORSEMENTS

You are responsible for the proper endorsement of any item deposited to your account. You are also responsible for any improperly placed endorsement and any writing, printing, carbon band, or other material on any check or other item issued from or deposited to your account. You are also responsible for any loss or expense we may incur relating to the improper placement, insufficiency, or illegibility of an endorsement as well as the condition of any check or item processed in connection with your account. We have the right, but not the obligation, to supply any missing endorsement. We may require that certain government checks, insurance company items or other special types of checks be personally endorsed by each of the payees in the presence of a Bank representative. You

agree to reimburse us for any loss or expense we incur because you failed to endorse an item exactly as it is drawn. You agree that we will not be liable to you because an item you deposit in your account is returned after the time set by applicable law if the delay in returning the item is caused by markings on the item in the space reserved for the depositary bank's endorsement that were made by you or a prior endorser. You will be liable to us for any loss or expense, including reasonable attorneys' fees, we incur because we are unable to properly return an item drawn on your account within the time set by applicable law where the delay in properly returning the item is caused by markings on the item in the space reserved for the depositary bank's endorsement that existed at the time you issued the item.

VERIFICATION AND CORRECTIONS

When we accept deposits to your account and issue receipts, the deposits and receipts are subject to our subsequent verification and reconciliation. We may or may not make adjustments to correct the amount of your deposit in the event of a discrepancy between the amount shown on your deposit ticket and the actual deposit amount. You will be notified of any applicable adjustments through your periodic statement and/or by separate notice.

CHARGEBACKS; WAIVER OF NOTICE ON RETURNED ITEMS

Any item deposited to your account, or that we cash for you, that is not paid for any reason when presented to the party obligated to pay it will be charged back against your account without regard to whether the item was returned within any applicable deadlines. Service fees may apply. You bear all foreign exchange rate risk on any returned items. At our option and without notice to you that the item has been returned, we may resubmit any returned item for payment. You waive notice of non-payment, dishonor and protest regarding any items credited to or charged against your account. For example, if a check that we cashed for you or that you deposited in your account is dishonored and returned to us, we are not required to notify you of the dishonor. If an item that we cashed for you or that is deposited in your account has been paid by the bank on which it is drawn and the item is returned to us at any time, by electronic or other means, and notwithstanding the expiration of the drawee bank's midnight deadline, based on a claim that the item was altered, contains a forged, unauthorized or missing endorsement or an encoding error, or should not have been paid for any other reason, or based on any other problem which in our judgment justifies reversal of credit, we may deduct the amount of the item from your account or place a "hold" on your account for that amount until the claim is withdrawn or resolved in a manner that requires no liability to us. If you have insufficient funds in your account to cover an item returned for any of the reasons described above, we may exercise our right of setoff against any other deposit account you have with us.

FOREIGN ITEMS

We are not obligated to credit to your account an item payable in foreign currency or drawn on a bank outside the United States until we have received the proceeds in U.S. dollars. If we do credit your account with such an item prior to receiving the proceeds in U.S. dollars, the credit will be a provisional credit subject to adjustment based upon the final exchange rate and any applicable currency exchange fees or charges. As a result, you bear all exchange rate risk.

AVAILABILITY OF FUNDS

The availability of funds in your account is, to the extent applicable, subject to the Federal Reserve Board's Regulation CC and to our Funds Availability Policy as amended from time to time. You should refer to that policy, which is contained in Section C of this Agreement, to determine the availability of funds deposited to your account.

WITHDRAWALS FROM YOUR ACCOUNT

CHECKS AND OTHER WITHDRAWALS

We may refuse any check or other item drawn against your account or used to withdraw funds from your account if it is not on a form approved by us. We also reserve the right to refuse any check or other item drawn against your account or used to withdraw funds from your account if made in a manner not specifically authorized for your account, if made more frequently or in greater number than specifically permitted for your account, or if made in an amount less than the minimum withdrawal or transfer specifically permitted for your account. We may pay checks or other items drawn upon your account in any order we determine, including, but not limited to, paying higher amount items before lower amount items, even if paying a particular check or item results in an insufficient balance in your account to pay one or more other items that otherwise could have been paid out of your account or results in overdraft fees or charges. (See section of this Agreement entitled "Insufficient Funds/Overdrafts.")

ELECTRONIC ITEMS AND SUBSTITUTE CHECKS

With increasing frequency, banks that handle checks in the collection process are converting the checks to electronic form for processing ("electronic items") and destroying the original check. When that happens to a check you write, certain information from your check (for example, amount and bank routing number) and/ or an image of your check is presented to us electronically, and we never receive the original paper check you wrote. In addition, banks in the collection process may reconvert your original check to a substitute check, which under federal law is the legal equivalent of the original check, and destroy your original check. The substitute check is presented to us for payment, and we never receive your original check. Also, some merchants and service providers may convert a check you write in payment for goods and services to electronic form, destroy the original check, and transmit the electronic entry to us through the ACH system (please refer to the section of this Agreement entitled "ACH Transactions" for more information).

In all of the above cases, we may debit your account for the electronic item, substitute check, or ACH debit entry created from your check, just as we would for the original check. We also may debit your account for other items that do not qualify under federal law as substitute checks, including electronic information and image replacement documents, if they are legitimate replacements for properly drawn and authorized items. Please refer to the section of this Agreement entitled "Substitute Check Notice" for information regarding your rights with respect to substitute checks.

You agree not to use any checks that contain a background image that interferes with our or any other bank's ability to read information on your check electronically or to produce an electronic image of your check or a substitute check.

CHECKS CASHED BY NON-CUSTOMERS

If you issue a check drawn on us (including, for example, a payroll check) and a person who is not our customer seeks to cash it at one of our branches, you agree that, to the extent permitted by law, we may charge the non-customer a service fee as a condition of cashing the check. We charge this fee to help offset additional costs and risks we incur when the item is not deposited at another financial institution and presented to us for payment through the automated check collection system. We may charge the fee without prior notice to you and for items that are drawn on your account or that we have issued at your request. You also agree that (i) we may require the non-customer to provide additional identification and/or comply with any other security measures we may impose; and (ii) we will not be liable for wrongful dishonor for refusing to cash the check if the non-customer refuses to pay the fee or comply with our security measures.

• CASHIER'S CHECKS

We may issue you (the remitter) a cashier's check made payable to a third party (the payee) at your direction in exchange for cash or a check written against guaranteed collected funds in your account. We reserve the right to charge a fee for any cashier's checks we issue. You are responsible for ensuring that the check arrives at its intended destination. Once a check is issued, you may not cancel it or put a stop payment on it. If the check becomes lost, stolen, destroyed, or is otherwise missing, we may replace the check according to the following procedures if permitted by applicable state law.

If you are the remitter (or payee) on a missing cashier's check that we issued and you make a claim with us for reimbursement of the amount of the check, you must complete and sign our declaration of loss form. If the missing check has not been paid, we will reimburse you on the date you make your claim, or 90 days from the issue date on the missing check, whichever is later. If the original check is paid prior to the 90-day period, we are not liable for reimbursing you for the missing check. If applicable state law does not provide for the 90-day waiting period described above, you must sign our declaration of loss form and indemnification agreement as described in the following paragraph. We may also require an indemnity bond.

If you are unwilling or unable to wait the required period of time, and depending on the circumstances, we may choose to reimburse you sooner; however, in addition to making a declaration of loss, you must also sign our indemnification agreement and you may be required to provide us with an indemnity bond in the amount of the missing check. Once you have provided the appropriate documentation and any required indemnity bond, and if the missing check has not been paid, we will reimburse you after a period of time that we deem appropriate considering the circumstances of the loss and in accordance with applicable state law.

If we determine that a cashier's check that you claim is missing from your possession has already been paid, and you allege that the endorsement on the check is fraudulent, you may still make a claim for reimbursement by executing an affidavit of forgery. If we paid the original check, we will conduct an internal investigation to determine if the endorsement was fraudulently made. If the check was paid or deposited by another bank, we will attempt to return the check to the bank that honored the check.

Our reimbursement obligations with respect to a cashier's check are subject to any defenses we may have under applicable law.

"STALE-DATED" ITEMS

We are under no obligation to pay a check which is presented more than six months after its date, but we may, in our discretion, do so. You agree that we are acting in good faith if we pay the check when there is no stop payment order in effect.

POST-DATED CHECKS

We will not be liable for paying a check before its date unless you give us prior notice that you have issued a post-dated check. We reserve the right to charge a fee for any post-dated check notice as permitted by applicable law. A post-dated check notice will remain in effect until the earlier of the check date or six months from the date we receive the notice. We may pay the check if it is presented for payment on or after the date of the check. A written notice concerning a post-dated check will be valid only upon receipt by us. Your notice must inform us of the exact amount and date of the item, the name of the payee and the number of the check and the account. We will not be responsible for paying a check before its date if the information you give us is not correct, you fail to give us any other reasonable information regarding the item or we do not have sufficient time to act upon your request. We are entitled to a reasonable period of time (not less than 24 hours) after you give us notice concerning a post-dated check to notify our employees. If we are requested not to pay a check before its date, you agree to be responsible for all losses, expenses and costs (including attorneys' fees) we incur as a result of our refusal to pay the check. We will not be responsible or liable if we pay the check contrary to your notification if payment occurs before we have had a reasonable time to act on your notification, if payment occurs as a result of inadvertence, accident or oversight, if the notification has expired, or if other items drawn by you are returned for insufficient funds because we paid the item. If we recredit your account after paying a post-dated check over a valid and timely notice, you agree to transfer to us all of your rights against the payee or other holder of the check, and to assist us in any legal action taken against that person.

INCOMPLETE AND CONDITIONAL ITEMS

We may pay or refuse to pay any item which is incomplete or where, by its terms, payment is conditional and the condition has not been satisfied. For example, we may pay or refuse to pay a check which says "Void after 30 days," even though the check is presented more than 30 days after its date. We may disregard information on any item other than the signature of the drawer, the amount shown in words in the space designated on the item for such information, and any other information encoded into the MICR line pursuant to our usual procedures. For example, we may pay a check for the written amount of the check even if the front of the check in some other place says it cannot be cashed or negotiated unless the check amount is for a lesser stated amount.

RESTRICTIONS ON INTEREST-BEARING ACCOUNTS

We are required by federal regulation to retain the right to ask for seven days' written notice from you before you withdraw from or close your savings account or Negotiable Order of Withdrawal ("NOW") account on which you can write checks.

GOOD FAITH DISBURSEMENTS

From time to time we may be presented with documents that purport to give an individual or entity the right to withdraw or receive funds from your account. You authorize us to disburse funds from your account upon the presentation of such documentation, provided we act in good faith.

DEATH OR INCOMPETENCE

Neither the death of an account owner nor a legal adjudication of incompetency revokes our authority to accept, pay or collect items until we know of the death or adjudication of incompetency and have a reasonable opportunity to act on that information. Even with knowledge, we may, for ten (10) days after the date of death, pay checks drawn on or before the date of death unless ordered to stop payment by a person claiming an interest in the account.

Upon the death or incompetence of an account owner or co-owner, we may delay the disbursement of funds from the account until we receive such documentation as we may reasonably require or as is required by law. We may also accept and comply with court orders or other legal process, and we may honor instructions provided by any representative presenting documentation which we reasonably believe to be legally valid (including but not limited to court-appointed fiduciaries such as guardians, conservators, or the like), from states other than the state where we deem the account to be located. Unless otherwise required by law, we will have no responsibility or liability to you or any other person or entity for having, or not having, familiarity with the laws or procedures of any such other state.

PAYMENT OF INTEREST ON SAVINGS AND INTEREST-BEARING CHECKING ACCOUNTS

All savings and interest-bearing checking accounts (whether demand deposit or NOW accounts) are variable rate accounts. The interest rate and annual percentage yields we pay on these accounts may change. At our discretion, we may change the interest rate on these accounts at any time without notice to you.

Interest begins to accrue on savings and interest-bearing checking accounts no later than the business day we receive credit for the deposit of noncash items such as checks. We use the daily balance method to calculate the interest on these accounts. This method applies a daily periodic rate to the "collected" balance in the account each day. The "collected" balance includes only those deposits for which we have received credit (*i.e.*, collected funds). We compound and accrue interest daily and credit interest to these accounts on a monthly basis. We are not obligated to pay any interest on funds from a deposited item that is returned unpaid. If your account is closed before interest is credited, you will not receive the accrued interest (unless your account is a Holiday Savings Account).

For our commercial interest-bearing checking accounts, we may calculate interest on the daily collected balance less an amount that is based on the reserve requirements of the Federal Reserve for transaction accounts (presently 10%). Our Disclosure of Products and Fees identifies the types of accounts subject to this calculation.

TIME DEPOSIT ACCOUNTS (CDs, IRAs and KEOGHs)

PAYMENT OF INTEREST

Our time deposit accounts include Certificates of Deposit (CDs), Variable Rate and Tiered Fixed Rate IRAs, and KEOGH accounts. Most have a fixed interest rate, which we pay until the maturity date unless the Bank determines that for regulatory or other reasons it is prudent and in the best interests of the Bank to close the account prior to maturity date, in which case we pay the fixed interest rate until the date the account is closed. If your account has

a variable interest rate, we may change your interest rate and annual percentage yield at our discretion and without notice at any time. Please consult your Disclosure of Products and Fees to determine whether your time deposit account has a fixed or variable rate.

Interest begins to accrue on a time deposit account on the business day you deposit cash or noncash items (for example, checks). We use the daily balance method to calculate the interest on your account. This method applies a daily periodic rate to the "principal" and "accrued interest" in the account each day. The "principal" includes all deposits received and credited to your account, regardless of whether we have received credit for the deposit. The "accrued interest" in the account is interest that has been calculated on your account but not yet credited or paid. We are not obligated to pay any interest on funds from a deposited item that is returned unpaid. For all time deposit accounts except "Jumbo" CDs, interest is compounded and accrued daily. For most time deposit accounts, we will credit interest to your account on a monthly, quarterly, semi-annual or annual basis, as you may elect. CDs with terms less than one year can also receive interest at maturity. However, we only credit interest (i) on 7-31 Day CDs at maturity, and (ii) on Variable Rate and Tiered Fixed Rate IRAs and KEOGHs monthly. On CDs with terms greater than one year, you will receive interest at least annually. All Jumbo CDs (CDs of \$100,000 or more deposited by commercial customers or any public funds CDs) earn simple interest which can be credited monthly, quarterly, semi-annually, annually, as you may elect, or at maturity for terms less than one year. Depending on the type of account you select, interest may be reinvested in your time deposit account, deposited into a checking or savings account with us, or paid to you by check.

Note: Under the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau's Regulation DD, the federal government requires us to quote interest rates using the term "Annual Percentage Yield" ("APY"). APY is a uniform method of calculating interest for comparison purposes only and does not necessarily match the actual interest. APY reflects the total amount of interest that would be paid on an account, with compounding, over a 365-day period. Actual interest equals the APY only when the term of the time deposit is exactly one year (365 days) and no funds, including accrued interest, are removed from the account during the term. Actual interest on time deposit accounts with shorter than a one-year term, or on accounts where interest is periodically paid out or transferred to another account, will be less than the APY.

OID (ORIGINAL ISSUE DISCOUNT)

"Original issue discount" refers to CDs with terms greater than 12 months that receive interest at maturity. An average of the interest to be earned over the term of the CD is reported to the IRS yearly. This average does not necessarily correspond with the amount of accrued interest earned on the account. This amount must be claimed by the customer yearly and must be included in the customer's tax returns.

BOOK-ENTRY CDS

All of our certificate of deposit accounts (including existing accounts and those we acquire from other institutions) are non-negotiable, book-entry time deposit accounts which are only transferable on our books. Our records are the only evidence of the account. Any "certificate" or other writing you receive or have received serves only as a confirmation of the account relationship

and is non-negotiable and non-transferable. If you received a "certificate" when you opened your account, we reserve the right to request the surrender of that "certificate" when you pledge, withdraw funds from or close your account.

The opening of a CD account is subject to our receipt of cash or collected funds for deposit into the account. A CD account is not opened or valid until we receive the initial deposit in cash or collected funds and all properly completed and signed documents that we require to open the account.

ADDITIONAL DEPOSITS

As a general rule, you may not make additional deposits after you open your account until the maturity date. There are exceptions to this general rule, such as 182-364 day CDs and all IRAs. Please consult your Disclosure of Products and Fees to determine whether additional deposits are permitted for your account.

RENEWAL

Your time deposit account will automatically renew for a like term at maturity. The new interest rate on your account will be the interest rate applicable at the time of renewal based upon the amount then on deposit.

For CD accounts other than Premier, balances at renewal below the minimum deposit required to open the account will not earn interest.

You will have a grace period after the maturity date of three calendar days (for time deposit accounts with terms of 31 days or less) or ten calendar days (for time deposit accounts with terms greater than 31 days) to withdraw funds without penalty. If you close your account during the grace period, you will not earn interest after the maturity date.

EARLY WITHDRAWAL LIMITATIONS AND PENALTIES

CDs: If you wish to withdraw principal from a CD prior to maturity, you may do so only with our consent. Additionally, you will be subject to a penalty except in certain situations. Regardless of the length of time the funds withdrawn have remained on deposit, the penalty imposed will be equal to the simple interest on the principal amount withdrawn for:

CD TERM

7 days thru 90 days 91 days thru 1 year

Over 1 year

INTEREST PENALTY

Full CD term 3 months 6 months

You will not incur an early withdrawal penalty in the following exception situations:

- a. For automatically renewing CDs, when sums are withdrawn at maturity or during the grace period following the maturity date.
- b. When any owner of the account has died or been judicially declared mentally incompetent.
- c. When federal or state law does not permit an early withdrawal penalty.

IRAs & Keoghs: You may not withdraw principal from an IRA or Keogh time deposit account prior to the maturity date without our consent and without incurring a penalty. The penalty imposed will equal three months' simple interest on the amount withdrawn, regardless of the length of time the funds have remained on deposit. A penalty will not be assessed if the withdrawal occurs after you are disabled or declared mentally incompetent, for medical expenses or after your death. For Education Savings Accounts, a bank penalty will not be assessed if the withdrawal is for qualified higher education expenses. For additional information on the terms of your IRA, please refer to your IRA documents.

With any time deposit account, if an early withdrawal penalty exceeds interest accrued on your account, whether paid or unpaid, the penalty will be withheld from the principal sum of your account. The interest rate used to calculate your early withdrawal penalty will be the rate in effect for that time deposit account on the date of withdrawal.

SUBACCOUNTS FOR CHECKING ACCOUNTS

All interest-bearing checking accounts may be comprised of two subaccounts: an interest-bearing checking subaccount and an interest-bearing money market subaccount. The funds in both subaccounts earn interest at the same interest rate. Noninterest-bearing checking accounts are comprised of two subaccounts: a noninterestbearing checking subaccount and a noninterest-bearing savings subaccount. Regardless of whether your checking account is interestbearing or noninterest-bearing, your monthly statement will show your account as a single, integrated account. While we will maintain separate information on each subaccount for regulatory reporting purposes, all information reported to you will be consolidated. Each month we will allocate the balance in your checking account between the two subaccounts based on allocation formulas that we may change from time to time. All checks, withdrawals, debits and other charges against your account will be presented against the funds in your checking subaccount. If additional funds are needed to cover your transactions, we will automatically transfer without charge available funds in your money market or savings subaccount to your checking subaccount. If excess funds accumulate in the checking subaccount, we may automatically transfer the funds to the money market or savings subaccount. Internal transfers between the two subaccounts will have no practical impact on you. The combined collected balance in the two subaccounts will be available to pay items presented for payment.

STOP PAYMENT ORDERS

You may request us to stop payment on any check, draft, personal money order, negotiable order of withdrawal (NOW), or pre-authorized electronic fund transfer drawn on your account if the item has not been paid. If you want to stop payment on an item, you must act promptly to ensure that we receive your request before the item is paid. As a result of advances in the check collection process, including the electronic exchange of check information, your checks will be presented for payment against your account much more quickly than in the past, thereby reducing the time you have for requesting a stop payment order before a check is paid. We are not required to honor your request to stop payment of any certified. cashier's, or official bank check. We reserve the right to charge a fee for any stop payment order and for each renewal of a stop payment order. Your check stop payment order will be effective: (i) for 6 months on checks; (ii) until notice is received from the account holder to revoke the stop payment order; or (iii) until payment of the item has been stopped, whichever occurs first. Your pre-authorized electronic funds transfer stop payment order will be effective: (i) until we have determined the transaction is no longer occurring, (ii) for 12 months, or (iii) until notice is received from the account holder to revoke the stop payment order; whichever is longer.

A stop payment order may be renewed any number of times by written notice to us at the address listed in the Bank Contacts section during the period while a previous stop payment order is in effect.

Because we process stop payment orders on our computer system, you must provide us with complete and accurate information sufficient for us to identify the stop payment item on our system. We will not be able to effect a stop payment order before the item is paid if the information you provide us is inaccurate or insufficient or if we do not have reasonable time (not less than 24 hours) to act upon your order. Also, we may not be able to honor your stop payment order if you create checks by computer or in any other manner that does not produce a MICR-encoded check number on the check. Under these circumstances, we will not be responsible or liable in any way if the order cannot be executed and the item is paid. If we are requested to stop payment on any item, you agree to be responsible for all losses, expenses and costs (including attorneys' fees) we incur as a result of our refusal to pay the item.

We will not be responsible or liable if we pay the item contrary to your stop payment order if payment occurs before we have had a reasonable time to act on your stop payment order, if payment occurs as a result of inadvertence, accident or oversight, if the stop payment order has expired, or if other items drawn by you are returned for insufficient funds because we paid the item. Also, we are not obligated to recredit your account if we pay an item over a stop payment order unless you are able to demonstrate that you would not have been obligated on the item had we stopped payment (for example, if you owed a valid debt to the payee of the item, or if the item was in the hands of a holder in due course, we are not obligated to recredit your account). You have the burden of proving the fact and amount of loss as a result of our paying the item. If we recredit your account after paying a check over a valid and timely stop payment order, you agree to transfer to us all of your rights against the payee or other holder of the check and to assist us in any legal action taken against that person. If a co-owner of an account requests that we cancel a stop payment order given to us by another co-owner, we have the right, but not the obligation, to honor that cancellation request. Stop payment orders on payments initiated through our online banking services are governed by the applicable online banking agreement.

If the stop payment order occurred with respect to a substitute check on a consumer account, the expedited recredit rules described in the "Substitute Check Notice" included in this Agreement do not apply unless the original check was necessary to determine whether the substitute check was improperly charged to your account. You may not stop payment on a check that has been converted by a merchant at the point of sale to an ACH debit entry (an "electronic check conversion"). If you have a problem with an electronic check conversion, you must contact us within sixty (60) days after the date of the statement on which the transaction appeared in accordance with the rules set forth in our Regulation E Disclosures, "Your Liability for Unauthorized Transfers," set forth elsewhere in this Agreement. Please refer to the section entitled "ACH Transactions" in this Agreement for more information on electronic check conversions.

INSUFFICIENT FUNDS/OVERDRAFTS ("NSF ITEMS")

Our procedures for payment or return of NSF items, and your responsibilities for such items and related service fees, are explained below. We do not encourage routine or intentional overdrafts. We urge you to manage your account responsibly so as to avoid NSF items, the related service fees, and the potential negative consequences described below. If you have any questions about our procedures, please contact us using the information provided in the "Bank Contacts" section at the end of this Agreement.

• DEFINITION OF NSF ITEMS

An "NSF item" is any item presented or transmitted for payment or debit against your account or used to withdraw or transfer funds from your account when the available balance in the account is not sufficient to cover the item. In determining the balance in your account, we will apply applicable provisions in the Federal Reserve Board's Regulation CC and our Funds Availability Policy, which is outlined later in this Agreement.

An NSF item can arise in any type of customer-initiated transaction, including, for example:

- a paper-based transaction (such as a check or withdrawal order),
- an electronic transaction (such as an ATM or debit card transaction, or a telephone or computer-initiated transaction), or
- a pre-authorized automatic debit (such as an ACH debit to pay a recurring bill).

An NSF item can arise in connection with any type of deposit account, including, for example, a checking, savings, or Money Market account.

If we pay your NSF item, rather than denying, rejecting or returning it unpaid, the item is "paid into overdraft." Your account is considered in "overdraft status" when it has a negative balance.

DETERMINATION OF NSF ITEMS

We determine whether your account contains sufficient funds to pay an item at any time between: the date and time the transaction occurs, the date and time we receive the item, and our return deadline. Only one determination of your account balance is required. If our determination reveals insufficient funds to pay the item, we are not required to honor the NSF item and may charge the related service fee, where applicable.

For the purposes of determining whether you have sufficient funds on the day of deposit to cover withdrawals or pay items, the amount of a deposit we consider is limited to the portion of the deposit for which we provide same-day availability. If you have multiple NSF items on a particular day, we may honor one or more of them and return the others as we deem appropriate.

The order in which we receive, process, and post items can affect the total number of NSF items and related service fees. When we process items on a particular business day, we do so without regard to the order in which the transactions occurred. Therefore, we may not process and post items to your account in the same order in which you write checks and/or make withdrawals from your account. We reserve the right to process and post items in any order we determine. The order in which we post items is explained in detail below; however, we generally post items in

certain transaction types or categories (e.g., ATM and debit card transactions) first prior to posting items in other transaction types (e.g., checks), even if such posting results in (i) an insufficient balance in your account to pay one or more other items that otherwise could have been paid out of your account, or (ii) a larger number of items subject to NSF or overdraft fees.

ORDER IN WHICH ITEMS POST

Items officially post during evening processing. Posting an item affects your "current balance." The current balance is the beginning-of-the-day balance after the prior evening's posting.

The "available balance" is the current balance less any holds and includes certain debits and credits which have taken place since the close of the previous Business Day, for example, certain ATM deposits and withdrawals, cash deposits, wire transfers, and other online activity. The available balance provides the most up to date balance information. The available balance does not include or account for any scheduled payments or transfers that have not processed.

We post items in the evening on each business day. Therefore, funds from deposits made after close of business on Friday may not be available to cover purchases you make by debit card over the weekend. Items post in order of their transaction type or category. The transaction types are listed below in the order in which they post. Items in the first numbered transaction type post first; items in the tenth numbered transaction type post last. Within its applicable transaction type, items with a serial number, such as checks and some ACH items, post in ascending serial number order; other items without a serial number post in low-to-high dollar amount order.

- Internal credit transfers: credit transfers you make, either online, by ATM or by telephone, from one of your accounts at the Bank to another.
- 2. Priority debit transactions *with* available funds: transactions you initiate with your ATM or debit card that are authorized by the Bank at the time of the transaction based on your account having available funds sufficient to cover the transaction.
- 3. Priority debit transactions without available funds: transactions you initiate with your ATM or debit card that are authorized by the Bank at the time of the transaction even though your account does not have sufficient available funds to cover the transaction.
- Deposits and other credits: your deposits and other credit transactions (such as ACH and wire credit transfers, tellercredited items, ATM deposits, and deposits via mobile device), and credit transfers made by the Bank (such as corrections and fee reversals).
- Teller-cashed checks and charge-backs: teller-cashed checks are checks you write that the payee cashes with a teller; charge-backs are items you deposit to your account that are subsequently returned by the paying bank and "charged-back" to your account.
- 6. Debit transactions resulting from credit reversals made by the Bank.
- 7. Internal debit transfers: debit transfers you make, either online, by ATM or by telephone, from one of your accounts at the Bank to another.

- All other debits: checks and other debits you initiate including ACH debits and debit card transactions that the Bank preauthorizes for an amount not specific to your purchase. (These are sometimes called "pay-at-the-pump" transactions.)
- 9. Bank debits for fees, services and other account charges.
- 10. Cash Management sweeps (for select business accounts only).

FEES FOR NSF ITEMS

Consumer/Personal Accounts: We do not charge an insufficient funds fee on consumer/personal accounts when we return an NSF item as unpaid. Although no fee is charged for NSF items that are returned unpaid, we do charge a fee when we choose to pay the NSF item if that item is over \$5.00. The service fee we charge for paying an NSF item on consumer/personal accounts will appear on your periodic statements as an "overdraft charge" or an "overdraft item fee," and collectively as "overdraft fees," in this Agreement. A service fee may be charged each time an item is presented for payment against your account (up to four service fee charges per day). Commercial/Business Accounts: We charge a service fee for each NSF item each time it is presented for payment against your account, regardless of whether the item is paid or returned unpaid. An item may be presented multiple times and we may charge you more than one service fee for any given item. For convenience in identifying whether we paid or returned an NSF item on a business account, the service fee we charge will appear on your periodic statements as an "overdraft charge" or "overdraft item fee" if we pay the NSF item into overdraft, and an "insufficient funds fee" if we reject or return the NSF item unpaid. These are referred to as "overdraft fees" and "NSF fees," respectively, in this Agreement.

The service fees we charge for NSF items are specified in our Disclosure of Products and Fees, as amended from time to time. You can obtain a current copy of our Disclosure of Products and Fees at any of our branches, on our website, or by calling FC Direct at the telephone number contained in the "Bank Contacts" section at the end of this Agreement.

You acknowledge and agree that, whether we pay an NSF item or reject it and return it unpaid, any service fee we charge for the NSF item is a service charge assessed in connection with the administration of your deposit account and is intended in part to discourage NSF items. You agree to pay the service fee specified in our Disclosure of Products and Fees whether we pay an NSF item or reject it and return it unpaid.

If your account is a consumer account, when you initiate transactions that cause you to incur an excessive number of overdraft fees within a rolling 12-month period, we will notify you in a message on your account statement and advise you to contact us about exploring less costly alternatives to managing your account.

All fees are charged during evening posting. When we charge a fee for NSF items, the charge reduces the available balance in your account and may put your account into (or further into) overdraft.

PAYMENT OR RETURN OF NSF ITEMS

With respect to most types of items, such as checks, other transactions using your checking account number, pre-authorized automated debits, and bill payments, we determine, under our basic overdraft service, whether to pay or return an NSF item based on an automated and/or manual system of review. Except in cases where

we are prohibited by law, we reserve the right in our absolute discretion and on a case-by-case and item-by-item basis either to pay or refuse to pay NSF items. We do not guarantee that we will pay all or any NSF items. We are not obligated to notify you prior to paying, refusing or returning an NSF item, and we may choose not to do so. However, for consumer accounts, if your NSF item arises from an ATM transaction or a one-time debit card transaction, we will not authorize or pay the item unless you or another joint accountholder affirmatively consent ("opt-in") to our basic overdraft service with ATM/debit card coverage. Certain consumer accounts are ineligible for basic overdraft service and do not provide the customer the ability to opt-in. If your account is ineligible for basic overdraft service, NSF items presented against your account will be rejected and returned unpaid.

- If you do not opt-in, we may refuse the ATM and one-time debit card transactions you initiate when your account has insufficient funds to cover the item.
- If you opt-in, we will treat your ATM and one-time debit card transactions like all other types of items and will pay or deny the item in our absolute discretion based on our system of review and your account type.

If your account is a business account, there is no requirement that you "opt-in" prior to the Bank making the determination to pay an ATM or one-time debit card transaction presenting against insufficient funds.

If we pay an NSF item, the amount of the item and any related overdraft fee will be charged against your account. As a result, your balance will be insufficient to pay subsequent items that would possibly have paid had we not paid the NSF item, and additional fees may result as described above.

Our payment of an NSF item that results in an overdraft on one or more occasions does not obligate us to allow overdrafts on any future occasion. Each NSF situation will be addressed on a case-bycase and item-by-item basis. We may deny an item or refuse to pay it into overdraft or discontinue doing so for any reason at any time.

When we pay NSF items that are checks, bill payments, and recurring debit card transactions into overdraft, we do so under the basic overdraft service we provide to all customers automatically at account opening. If you do NOT want us to pay any NSF items, you must notify us by calling FC DIRECT using the telephone number provided in the "Bank Contacts" section at the end of this Agreement. If you notify us not to pay any NSF items, we may deny, reject and/or return all NSF items. We will, however, charge business accounts an NSF fee for rejected and returned items as specified in our Disclosure of Products and Fees.

YOUR RESPONSIBILITIES

It is your responsibility to monitor your account to ensure that you always have sufficient funds on deposit to cover items and other charges and to avoid incurring fees for NSF activity. By maintaining accurate records of your deposits and withdrawals, you are in the best position to ensure that your account has sufficient funds to cover each item presented for payment against your account. As a result of advances in the check collection process, including the exchange of check information in electronic form, your checks will be presented for payment against your account much more quickly than in the past, making responsible account management on your part even more important.

If your account is overdrawn due to NSF items, related service fees or for any other reason, you agree to pay the amount of the overdraft immediately. You also agree to reimburse us for any costs we incur in collecting the amount of any overdraft and all NSF and overdraft fees from you, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees and the costs of litigation. As to any account with multiple owners, each owner agrees that all of the owners are jointly and severally liable for all overdrafts and all NSF and overdraft fees. Each owner also agrees that we may debit funds from any other account held by such owner to repay overdrafts and any service fees related to overdraft activity. If you fail to repay any amounts owed in connection with your account, we may report you to one or more credit bureaus or check reporting agencies and take such actions as permitted by law to collect the amounts owed.

OVERDRAFT PROTECTION

If you anticipate that NSF items may be presented against your checking account on a routine or frequent basis, you may wish to consider requesting overdraft protection, under which you link your checking account to your savings account and/or to a line of credit (provided we offer a line of credit for the type of account you have and you and/or a co-owner on your checking account qualify(ies) for the line of credit). If you and/or your co-owner elect to link both a savings account and line of credit ("source accounts") to your checking account for overdraft protection purposes, you may select the order in which your source accounts are accessed for overdraft protection. We will exhaust the first source account entirely before accessing the second source account. Unless you instruct us otherwise, we will first access a linked line of credit to pay an NSF item before accessing a linked savings account. Only the borrower(s) on the line of credit is/are liable for paying any line of credit balance.

Any transfer to prevent your checking account from becoming overdrawn will be rounded up to the next highest \$100 (subject to availability).

If you elect to use overdraft protection, you will not be charged an NSF or overdraft fee unless payment of the item would cause you to exceed your credit limit on your line of credit and/or the amount in your savings account. However, as provided in our Disclosure of Products and Fees, we will charge your checking account a flat fee (an overdraft protection transfer fee) each day an overdraft protection transfer to your checking account occurs, regardless of the source account.

FEES AND SERVICE CHARGES

You are responsible for all fees and service charges ("fees and charges") arising from your account according to our Disclosure of Products and Fees in effect at the time the fees and charges are incurred or the services rendered. Any fees and charges assessed against your account will be disclosed on your periodic statement. You agree that you will promptly examine your statements and report any incorrectly assessed fees and charges to us. Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, you agree that we will not be required to credit you for an improperly assessed fee or charge if you do not notify us of the improper fee or charge within thirty (30) calendar days following the date that the earliest statement or notice describing the fee or charge was made available to you.

We are authorized to collect our various fees and charges (i) by debiting your account (even if the debit results in an overdraft), (ii) by deducting our fee for handling incoming and outgoing wire transfers from the amount transferred, (iii) by demanding payment from you directly, and (iv) by exercising our right of setoff. If your account is a business account, we may charge interest on uncollected funds at the interest rate established by us from time to time. You agree that we may take any of the foregoing actions to collect fees and charges you owe regardless of the source of the funds in your account and whether such funds may be exempt from any legal or equitable process (including, for example, funds from any type of public benefits such as social security, supplemental security income, or veterans' benefits), as permitted by law. We will not be responsible or liable for dishonoring items presented against your account when the payment of our fees and charges results in insufficient funds in your account to cover the items presented.

We are required to pay assessed premiums to the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) for insurance coverage of depositors' accounts. We reserve the right, to the extent permitted by law, to impose a fee, which goes towards covering the amounts we must pay in FDIC premiums, on all or any of the various types of accounts we offer, provided we charge the fee in a consistent manner. The amount of this fee, if we choose to impose it, will be subject to change based upon the cost of our FDIC insurance. The fee, called a "Deposit Protection Fee," will be set forth in our Disclosure of Products and Fees.

SECURITY INTEREST

You hereby grant us a continuing security interest in all deposit accounts held by us, with respect to any funds in the account(s) of which you or you and one or more co-owners are beneficial owner(s), to secure the payment of any debt or performance of any obligation owed to us by you or any co-owner of the account. This means that we have the rights of a secured party with a perfected security interest in your accounts and may exercise those rights to take and apply any funds in your accounts to the payment of any debt or enforcement of any obligation as provided in Article 9 of the Uniform Commercial Code in effect in the state in which your accounts are held.

SETOFF/RIGHT TO FREEZE ACCOUNT

We reserve the right of setoff against your account as permitted by applicable law and/or under this Agreement to repay any debt or obligation owed to us by you or any co-owner of your account. This means that we have the right to apply part or all of the funds in your account for the satisfaction of any debt you, or as permitted by applicable law, any co-owner of the account owe us, including debts or obligations that have not matured. We are authorized to charge such indebtedness against your account without prior notice to you and without regard to the origin of the deposits to the account or the beneficial entitlement to monies deposited, unless applicable law provides otherwise.

If your account is an individual account, our setoff right may be exercised to repay your debts, whether they are owed by you individually or jointly with others. To the extent permitted by applicable state law, all of the funds in a joint account may be used to repay the debts of any co-owner, whether they are owed

individually by a co-owner, jointly with other co-owners, or jointly with other persons or entities having no interest in your account. If your account is a partnership account, each partner agrees that we may exercise our right of setoff against the partnership account to satisfy not only the obligations of the partnership, but also the individual obligations of any partner. Debts subject to our right of setoff include those owed by you from another joint account in which you are a co-owner even though the debt may not have been directly incurred by you, as well as debts for which you are only secondarily liable. Our right of setoff also applies when we cash a third party check for you over the counter which is returned to us unpaid for any reason, provided we return the unpaid check to you.

We may exercise our right of setoff even if the withdrawal results in an early withdrawal penalty or the dishonor of subsequent checks. We will not be responsible for dishonoring items presented against your account when the exercise of our right of setoff results in insufficient funds in your account to cover the items. Our right of setoff may be exercised before or after the death of an account holder.

Certain government benefits (for example, social security, supplemental security income, veterans' and other types of government benefits) are protected by law from legal process and your creditors' claims. To the extent funds deposited to any account that is subject to our right of setoff are entitled to any exemption from execution, levy, attachment, garnishment, seizure, setoff or other legal or equitable process (including, but not limited to, any social security, supplemental security income, veterans or other federal or state benefits), then to the maximum extent permitted by law you affirmatively waive such exemption and consent to our exercise of our right of setoff against such funds. This means, for example, that we may use such funds in your account to pay overdrafts, account service fees and charges and other amounts you (or any other account owner) owe us.

We also have the right to "freeze" or place a "hold" on your account (i.e., not permit any withdrawal) and/or to prevent any deposits from being made to your account, for a reasonable period of time, when (i) we have the right of setoff, (ii) there are claims or disputes concerning your account, or (iii) we in good faith believe we either have a claim against you or the funds in your account, or something has occurred or is reasonably expected to occur that may result in our having a claim against you or the funds in your account. This paragraph shall not be enforced in violation of applicable law.

If we charge off your account and close it due to your failure to pay off a negative balance, then to the extent permissible by law we have the right as necessary to apply any subsequent deposits or credits (electronic or otherwise) related to your account as setoff against your charged off amount and, if applicable, mail any funds remaining to you at your address of record in the form of a cashier's check.

ACH TRANSACTIONS

Automated Clearing House (ACH) entries are electronic fund transfers (debits or credits) to your account that are transmitted through the ACH system ("ACH entry" or "ACH entries"). We reserve the right to refuse to allow any ACH entry into or out of your account. All ACH entries are subject to our Agreement and Disclosure for Electronic Fund Transfer Services (Section D of this Agreement), as applicable, and the Operating Rules and Guidelines of the National Automated Clearing House Association (the "NACHA Rules"). As

the originator or receiver of an ACH entry, you are bound by the NACHA Rules. If you are an originator of ACH entries you are also bound by the terms of our ACH Agreement. ACH entries to or from consumer accounts are subject to the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau's Regulation E. Regulation E disclosures are contained in our Agreement and Disclosure for Electronic Fund Transfer Services (Section D of this Agreement).

NOTICE

We will notify you of the receipt of any ACH entry to your account in the periodic statements provided to you for your account. We will not (and will not be obligated to) give you next-day notice or any other notice. Unless specifically provided otherwise by separate agreement we are not obligated to (and will not) verify with you whether an ACH debit entry to your account was authorized by you prior to the occurrence of the debit.

PAYMENT

You agree that payment for ACH entries may be solely by reference to the account number of the recipient and that we are not obligated to determine whether any discrepancy exists between the account number and the name of the recipient as shown on the ACH entry information. Any credit we give you with respect to an ACH credit entry is provisional until we receive final payment. If we do not receive final payment, you agree that we are entitled to reverse the credit to your account or that you will otherwise reimburse us immediately upon demand if funds in your account are not sufficient.

REGULATIONS CONCERNING INTERNATIONAL ACH TRANSACTIONS

The Office of Foreign Assets Control ("OFAC") of the U.S. Department of the Treasury administers and enforces economic and trade sanctions, based on U.S. foreign policy and national security goals, against targeted foreign countries and certain entities such as terrorists and narcotics traffickers. We must comply with OFAC's regulations, which require us to screen all International ACH Transactions ("IATs") against a list of sanctioned countries and entities. If we identify an IAT, transmitted either to or from your account, for further investigation, (i) the settlement of such transaction may be delayed, (ii) the transaction may be rejected, and/or (iii) the transaction may be blocked, at which time we would be required to place an indefinite hold on the funds. In the event an IAT is rejected or blocked, we will provide you with notice. You agree not to use the ACH system to process transactions in violation of (i) sanctions imposed by OFAC, (ii) federal rules implementing and enforcing the Unlawful Internet Gambling Enforcement Act, or (iii) other federal laws. You acknowledge that if we detect and identify any illicit, restricted or prohibited ACH transactions to or from your account, the transactions may be blocked or rejected, the originators or receivers of such transactions may be subject to penalties, and your account(s) may be closed.

REPORTING IMPROPER AND INELIGIBLE ENTRIES

If you believe we have credited an ACH entry to your account in error, you agree to notify us promptly (within 60 days) or you may not get any money back and we will be discharged of any liability to you. For certain types of ACH entries to business accounts, you may only have **24 hours** to report the entry if it is an "improper entry." All customers have up to 60 days to report "ineligible entries." Improper entries are described immediately below; ineligible entries are described in the Electronic Check Conversion and Ineligible Entries section below.

IMPROPER ENTRIES

"Improper entries" generally refer to unauthorized entries; *i.e.*, entries initiated without the actual authority of, and which do not benefit, the receiver.

- If your account is a consumer account, ACH entries to and from your account are governed by federal Regulation E. Please refer to the "Regulation E Disclosures" in our Agreement and Disclosure for Electronic Fund Transfer Services (Part D of this Agreement) for your rights and obligations with respect to improper/unauthorized entries, which are referred to in Regulation E as "ACH errors."
- ACH entries to non-consumer accounts are not governed by Regulation E and are therefore governed primarily by the NACHA Rules. Under the NACHA Rules, we have the ability to return improper/unauthorized non-consumer entries sent to business and other non-consumer accounts within 24 hours of receipt. Therefore, if your account is a non-consumer account and you notice an ACH error, you must notify us of the error by 6:00 p.m. Eastern time of the next business day following receipt of the entry or we may not be able to return the entry to the originating financial institution. We will not be liable if we are unable to return any improper entry that you report to us after this time.

ELECTRONIC CHECK CONVERSION AND INELIGIBLE ENTRIES

Sometimes, when you write a check to buy something at a store or to pay a bill, the merchant or service provider (the "merchant") may use your check as a source document to initiate an ACH debit entry for the amount of the check rather than send the check itself through the banking system for payment. This procedure is called "electronic check conversion." Electronic check conversions through the ACH system may be debited to consumer accounts and to certain business accounts that are eligible for check conversion (*i.e.*, those that do not contain an auxiliary on-us field in the MICR line of their checks).

If your paper check is converted, it will not be processed as a check. Instead, (i) the check will be processed through the ACH system as an ACH debit entry, (ii) the check amount will be debited from your account as an ACH debit entry, and (iii) we will not receive the check you wrote. Checks containing an auxiliary on-us field in the MICR line that are electronically converted and debited to business accounts are considered ineligible entries. Checks over \$25,000 that are electronically converted and debited to any account, whether business or consumer, are also considered ineligible entries. All consumer and non-consumer accounts have the same 60-day right of return for ineligible entries.

You should receive a notice from the merchant who plans to use your check for electronic check conversion (we are not liable if the merchant fails to give you the required notice). For example, if you are at a store, you may see the notice on a sign, or you may be asked to sign a written notice. If you mail a check to pay a bill, you may see the notice on the bill itself. If you write a check at a store, your check may be stamped "void" and handed back to you with a receipt. If you mail a check, for example, to pay a utility bill, the utility company will keep a copy of your check but will destroy the original and your check will not be returned to you. The amount of an electronic check conversion will be described on your account statement by the amount and serial number of your check and shown as a debit to your account, but because the merchant kept the check or returned it to you, you will not receive the check (or any image of it) with your

statement. Like any other ACH entry, electronic check conversions are governed by the NACHA Rules and in addition by Regulation E (for consumer accounts) and not by the rules for normal check transactions. Regardless of whether your account is a consumer or non-consumer account, if you want to opt out of electronic check conversion you must contact the merchant initiating the transaction.

A merchant also may convert your check to an ACH debit entry if the original check you wrote was returned to the merchant due to insufficient funds in your account and the merchant wants to re-present the check for payment. Under the NACHA Rules, this procedure applies only to checks written on consumer accounts. The merchant should give you a notice (before accepting your check) that your check may be collected electronically if it is returned (we are not liable if the merchant fails to give you the required notice). If there are sufficient funds in your account to pay the ACH debit entry created by the merchant to re-present your check, your account will be debited for the amount of the entry. The debit will be described on your account statement by the amount and serial number of your check and shown as a debit to your account, but because we did not receive the check, the check (or any image of it) will not be included with your statement. When a merchant re-presents a check electronically, the transaction is not covered by the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau's Regulation E even if the deposit account is a consumer account. However, if the merchant charges you a fee as a result of the returned check and you authorize the merchant to electronically debit the fee from your consumer account, that transfer is covered by Regulation E and the Regulation E Disclosures set forth elsewhere in this Agreement.

WIRE TRANSFERS

We accept wire transfers to your account (credits) and offer wire transfer services enabling you to send wire transfers from your account (debits); however, we reserve the right to refuse to allow wire transfers into or out of your account for any reason. Wire transfers are subject to applicable state and federal laws and regulations (including, for example, Article 4A of the Uniform Commercial Code) and any rules in effect at the time of the transfer governing the use of any system through which the funds may be transmitted, including, for example, Federal Reserve Board Regulation J (in the case of a Fedwire transfer), SWIFT and the Clearing House Interbank Payments System (CHIPS). In addition, consumer international wire transfers are governed by federal Regulation E. which carries out the purposes of the Electronic Fund Transfer Act. You are also bound by our applicable wire transfer agreement, as amended from time to time ("Wire Transfer Agreement"), the terms of which are incorporated into this Agreement by reference. You agree that you are responsible for reviewing a current copy of our Wire Transfer Agreement before you initiate any wire transfer. You may obtain a copy of our Wire Transfer Agreement at one of our branches or through FC DIRECT (see "Bank Contacts" section - Part F for telephone contact information).

We will notify you of the receipt of a wire transfer into or out of your account in the periodic statements provided to you for your account. We will not (and will not be obligated to) give you next-day notice or any other notice of a wire transfer. If you believe we have failed to credit a transfer to you properly, or that a wire transfer has been made from your account in error or without your authority, you agree to notify us promptly. You are responsible for verifying with us our receipt of any wire transfer instructions you give us.

You acknowledge that we will transfer your funds in accordance with your transfer instructions, and that as long as we follow your wire transfer instructions we are not liable if your funds are ultimately sent to an unintended recipient/beneficiary. Furthermore, you acknowledge that we are not obligated to determine whether any discrepancy exists between the account number and the name of the recipient as shown on the transfer information you provide to us, and you agree that payment for wire transfers may be solely by reference to the account number of the recipient. If your wire transfer instructions are incorrect resulting in your funds being transferred to an unintended recipient, we will attempt to assist you in getting the wire transfer recalled or otherwise getting the funds returned to you; however, we are not responsible or liable if the beneficiary bank delays in returning the funds or declines to return the funds at all. We advise you to verify the source of all wire transfer instructions before you transmit these instructions to us.

Any credit we give you with respect to a wire transfer is provisional until we receive final payment. If we do not receive final payment, you agree that we are entitled to reverse the credit to your account or that you will otherwise reimburse us immediately upon demand if funds in your account are not sufficient.

If you are entitled to compensation for any delay or improper completion of a wire transfer as a result of our error as defined in our Wire Transfer Agreement, our liability will be limited to the payment of interest for a period not exceeding the lesser of 60 days or the period between the date of the error and the date of the correction. We will not be responsible under any circumstances for any consequential, incidental or actual damages (except for interest as provided above) in the event of any such delay or improper completion. You agree to notify us immediately upon learning of any unauthorized wire transfer or any other discrepancy from your transfer instructions. We will be discharged from any loss or liability to the extent caused by your delay in giving us such notification.

Without regard to care or lack of care on our part or your part, if you have failed to discover and report to us any unauthorized transfer or any other discrepancy with respect to a transfer instruction within 14 calendar days from the date we first notify you of the transfer (whether by debit advice, periodic statement or otherwise), you will be precluded from asserting against us the unauthorized transfer or other discrepancy or from claiming interest. You acknowledge that this 14-day period constitutes a reasonable period of time for notification of an unauthorized transfer or other discrepancy.

You agree not to use the wire transfer system to process transactions in violation of (i) sanctions imposed by OFAC, (ii) federal rules implementing and enforcing the Unlawful Internet Gambling Enforcement Act, or (iii) other federal laws. Illicit, restricted or prohibited transactions that we detect and identify may be blocked or rejected, the senders or beneficiaries of such transactions may be subject to penalties, and your account(s) may be closed.

ELECTRONIC FUND TRANSFER SERVICES

To the extent applicable, electronic fund transfer services are governed by our Agreement and Disclosure for Electronic Fund Transfer Services (Section D of this Agreement) and the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau's Regulation E. For purposes of Section D, the term "electronic fund transfer services" includes transactions initiated by ATM cards and Visa® Debit cards and transactions

initiated through an electronic terminal, telephone, computer or magnetic tape for the purpose of authorizing us to debit or credit your account. Transactions you initiate through one of our online banking services, including mobile deposits, are governed by First Citizens' online banking agreements (Business Online Banking (BOB) Advantage and Digital Banking). You should refer to the appropriate agreement and disclosure for details concerning your rights and obligations in relation to electronic fund transfer services. The agreements and disclosures, as amended from time to time, are incorporated into this Agreement by reference.

REAL TIME PAYMENTS RECEIPT SERVICES

The Real-Time Payments Service ("RTP Service") allows you to receive payments through a centralized real-time payments system (the "RTP System") developed and operated by The Clearing House Payments Company ("TCH"). These payments, known as "Real-Time Payments" or "RTP", can be received every day of the year, 24 hours a day, subject to scheduled maintenance.

TCH publishes a set of Real-Time Payment System Rules (the "RTP Rules") that apply to the use of the RTP Service. The RTP Rules are publicly available and can be located here: https://www.theclearinghouse.org/payment-systems/rtp/document-library. By using the RTP Service, you agree to be bound not only by this Deposit Account Agreement, but also by the RTP Rules issued by TCH. Should a conflict arise between the RTP Rules and this section of the Deposit Account Agreement, the RTP Rules shall apply. Origination of RTP payments will be governed by a separate Related Agreement.

RTP SERVICE DEFINED TERMS

In the RTP System:

- (i) The Person initiating the RTP is the "Sender," and its financial institution is the "Sending Participant."
- (ii) The Person receiving the RTP is the "Receiver" and its financial institution is the "Receiving Participant."
- (iii) The Sender initiates the RTP by sending a "Payment Instruction" to the Sending Participant instructing it to make a payment in US Dollars to a Receiver.
- (iv) The Sending Participant sends a "Payment Message" to the Receiving Participant based on the Payment Instruction. If the Receiving Participant accepts the Payment Message, the amount of the RTP is immediately made available.

Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein or elsewhere in the Agreement are defined in the RTP Rules, and where used in this RTP Receipt Services section shall have the meanings, and be applied as, provided in the RTP Rules.

LIMITATIONS

The amount of each RTP that you can receive is limited by the RTP Rules and may be further limited by a Sending Participant. RTP may only be made in US Dollars to and from accounts located in the United States. We will not be liable or responsible for any acts or omissions, including but not limited to those related to the amount, accuracy, or timeliness of transmittal or authorization of any payment instructions, made by you or by any other person, including by TCH or any other Participant. Unless we expressly state otherwise, no other person, including TCH or any other Participant, shall be deemed our agent related to the use of the RTP Service. You agree to comply with any other requirements promulgated or implemented by TCH or us in connection with the use of the RTP Services, including any transaction, volume, and/or velocity limits.

ACCOUNT INFORMATION

We are not required to give you a separate notice of our receipt of an RTP. We will report RTP activity through your selected Online Banking Service. You are responsible for monitoring the use of the RTP Service and your Accounts as often as reasonably possible. Your transaction Accounts can receive an RTP at any time on any day unless you affirmatively choose to block RTP as described below.

PROCESSING OF PAYMENT MESSAGE

Upon receipt of a Payment Message for your Account, we will make a decision on the Payment Message (such decision options are described below) withing the time required under the RTP Rules and will so notify the Sending Participant.

We may reject a Payment Message if:

- The Account identified in the Payment Message is closed, invalid, or being monitored for fraudulent or other illegal activity;
- (ii) The Account identified in the Payment Message is not a "transaction account" as defined by the Federal Reserve Board's Regulation D, codified as 12 C.F.R. part 204;
- (iii) You elected to block the Account from RTP; or
- (iv) The RTP cannot be accepted for legal or regulatory compliance reasons.

If we reject a Payment Message, it will not be made available in the Account and the RTP will be returned to the Sending Participant.

We may accept the Payment Message in any order convenient to us, regardless of the order in which it or other deposits, credits, or debits were received, and make the funds immediately available in the Account. We may accept a Payment Message without posting if we determine, in our sole discretion, that we require time to review the message for legal, compliance, or risk management reasons. Funds are not made available in the Account at this point. Within the time specified in the RTP Rules, we are required to accept or reject the Payment Message.

REQUEST FOR RETURN OF FUNDS

Under the RTP Rules, a Sending Participant may initiate a Request for Return of Funds for any reason, including for an unauthorized, erroneous, or fraudulent RTP. If we receive such a request on an RTP received by you, we are required by the RTP Rules to respond and investigate the claim. You may be required to return the funds received from the RTP including if the RTP was unauthorized, erroneous, or fraudulent, and we reserve the right to debit your Account for such return. You agree that we will not be held liable for undertaking any investigation required by the RTP rules even if such investigation delays your ability to access the funds. You also agree that we will not be held liable for requiring you to return funds received via an RTP if the RTP was unauthorized, erroneous or fraudulent.

OPTING OUT OF RTP

We recognize that you may have reasons for not wanting to accept RTP Services for your accounts. We offer you the option of opting out of receiving RTP by placing a block on one or more designated Account(s) or all of your Accounts (each such Account so blocked being a "Blocked RTP Account"). If we receive a Payment Message to a Blocked RTP Account, we will reject the Payment Message and return the payment. You accept full responsibility and may not hold us liable for any rejections made under this Paragraph. You also agree to hold us harmless and fully indemnify us for any claims made by a Sender relating to a rejection under this Paragraph.

USE OF THIRD PARTIES

You may not engage a Third-Party Service Provider or use this RTP Service on behalf of any third-party, including but not limited to affiliates and subsidiaries, without advance written consent from us.

TRANSACTION DATA

You acknowledge and agree that TCH may use data about you, including transaction data collected in connection with TCH's operation of the RTP System, for any business purpose, including TCH's operation of the RTP System, in its sole discretion. We have no control over TCH's use of your data and disclaim any liability relating to or resulting from such use.

MISCELLANEOUS

POWERS OF ATTORNEY

We may at our discretion decline to recognize or honor any power of attorney with respect to your account to the extent permitted by applicable law. We may also require your attorney-in-fact to execute an affidavit attesting to the validity of the power of attorney document and the attorney-in-fact's authority to act under it. If we accept a power of attorney, we may continue to recognize the authority of your attorney-in-fact until we receive and have a reasonable opportunity to act upon notice of your death or written notice of the revocation or termination of the power of attorney. On a case-by-case basis and to the extent permitted by applicable law, we reserve the right to restrict the nature or size of the transactions we will allow your attorney-in-fact to conduct on your behalf.

TRANSFER OR ASSIGNMENT OF YOUR ACCOUNT; LEGAL PROCESS AGAINST ACCOUNT

Your account is solely for the use of the owner(s) of the account. We will not recognize the validity of any assignment of your account or transfer of funds in your account unless we give our prior consent and such consent as well as the assignment or transfer is entered in our records. We reserve the right to ignore or reject any attempted pledge, assignment, or purported security interest in any account. Any pledge, assignment, or security interest we permit will remain subject to our prior right of setoff.

If legal action such as a levy, attachment, execution, garnishment, etc. is brought against your account, we may refuse to pay out any money from your account until the dispute is resolved. If your account is attached, executed upon, garnished or otherwise subject to levy, we will not be liable to you for any sums we pay because of such attachment, execution, garnishment or other levy. even if paying the money from your account leaves insufficient funds to pay checks you have written or other items presented for payment against your account. If we incur any expense, including attorneys' fees, in responding to an attachment, execution, garnishment or other levy that is not otherwise reimbursed, we may charge such expense to your account without prior notice to you. If there are insufficient funds in your account to reimburse us fully, you will be liable for the balance. Any attachment, execution. garnishment or other levy against your account is subject to our right of setoff as permitted by applicable law. Your accounts may be subject to attachment, execution, garnishment or other levy in any state in which we do business, regardless of where you reside or where your accounts were opened or are maintained.

35

Although social security, supplemental security income, veterans' and other types of public benefits are protected by law from legal process and the claims of your creditors, it is your responsibility (and not ours) to raise the protected status of funds on deposit as a defense. We are under no duty to contest on your behalf any execution, levy, attachment, garnishment, seizure or other legal or equitable process asserted against you or your account and may take such action to comply with any such process as we determine to be appropriate in the circumstances, without regard to whether the funds on deposit are protected and without liability to you.

CLAIMS AND DISPUTES CONCERNING YOUR ACCOUNT

If we reasonably believe there is a legitimate dispute among any parties who have or claim an interest in your account, we may, at our discretion, (i) continue to rely on the signature cards, resolutions, and other account documents in our possession; (ii) freeze all or any portion of the funds we deem appropriate until the dispute is resolved; (iii) pay the funds into an appropriate court of law or equity for resolution; or (iv) close the account and pay any proceeds to (a) all who have or claim an interest in the account, or (b) the account owner(s) as indicated in our records. In addition, we may, at our option, commence a lawsuit or other legal proceeding to determine the ownership of your account.

COSTS AND ATTORNEYS' FEES

You agree to reimburse us for costs and expenses (including attorneys' fees) we incur in any action concerning your account if (i) we are the prevailing party, or (ii) the purpose of the action is to determine the ownership of the account or to resolve disputes regarding the account. We may charge any of your accounts for such costs and expenses without prior notice to you. Your liability will be joint and several.

ZERO-BALANCE, INACTIVE, AND ABANDONED / UNCLAIMED ACCOUNTS

Zero-Balance Accounts

We will automatically close your checking and savings account if it goes to a zero balance and remains in zero-balance status at the close of the following monthly statement cycle.

Inactive Accounts

Checking and Savings Accounts: If your account maintains a balance, but you do not make any deposits to or withdrawals from your account for a period of one year (12 consecutive months), we will automatically change the status of your account to "inactive" for purposes of determining when your property is deemed abandoned. When your account changes to inactive status, we will stop sending you monthly statements and will only send statements semi-annually; however, any undelivered statements will be available to you at any time upon your request, and you agree that your statements have been "made available" to you under this procedure for purposes of your obligation to review your statements in a timely manner and report any irregularities to us. If any deposits or withdrawals are made after your account has been placed in inactive status, your account will be changed back to active status. Statements will resume and will include images of your checks, if applicable.

<u>Time Deposit Accounts</u>: If there is no customer-initiated activity on your CD account, it will be considered inactive for purposes of determining whether the property is deemed abandoned from the first maturity date. If your account is a traditional IRA account, the time period after which your account is considered inactive begins after you reach the age of mandatory distribution as set forth by the Internal Revenue Service. Roth IRAs may also be considered inactive, depending on applicable state law.

Abandoned/Unclaimed Accounts

The time period after which inactive accounts are deemed "abandoned" or "unclaimed" varies in length by applicable state law. If an account qualifies as abandoned property and you have failed to respond to any notices we send you, we are required by law to pay the amounts on deposit to the appropriate state.

To the extent permitted by state law, inactive and abandoned accounts will continue to be subject to account service charges according to our Disclosure of Products and Fees.

REVIEW OF STATEMENTS AND ACCOUNT NOTICES; COPIES OF ITEMS

Depending on the type of account you have, and/or how you elect to receive your statements, we will mail or otherwise make available to you your account statements and images of your canceled checks and other items if applicable. When used herein, the term "statement" includes the statement and any items included with and/or described in the statement. We also may mail or otherwise make available to you from time to time notices regarding your account or activity on your account ("notices").

If we mail statements or notices, we will mail them to your address as shown on our records. You are responsible for ensuring that our records reflect your correct mailing address. If we (i) hold your statement because your account has been placed in "inactive" or "undeliverable statement" status as described elsewhere in this Agreement, or (ii) hold your items as required by the particular account type you have, you agree that the statements and items described in the statements have been made available to you on the date the statement or notice is prepared. You agree that you will not be allowed to claim as an excuse for not promptly reviewing a statement or notice that (i) you did not receive the statement or notice under one of the circumstances described in the previous sentence, (ii) the statement or notice was intercepted or concealed by another person, (iii) you no longer resided or received mail at the address we had for you in our account records, or (iv) any other similar reason.

You agree that you are in the best position to detect any error or discrepancy relating to activity on your account, including, for example, an item that reflects an incorrect or incomplete deposit and/or an item that contains an unauthorized signature, lacks a required signature, contains a forged endorsement, lacks a required endorsement, constitutes an unauthorized withdrawal, is altered, or is otherwise irregular (collectively, an "irregular item"). You agree that you will promptly and carefully examine your statements and any notices. A statement or notice will be deemed correct unless you notify us of an irregular item promptly after the statement or notice is made available to you. Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, you agree that we will not be liable for an irregular item if: (i) you did not exercise reasonable promptness

or care in examining the statement or notice, (ii) you do not report the irregular item to us within thirty (30) calendar days following the date the earliest statement or notice describing the irregular item or the irregular item itself was mailed or otherwise made available to you, or (iii) the irregular item was forged or altered such that an unauthorized signature, an unauthorized endorsement, an alteration, or any other such irregularity could not be detected by a reasonable person. In addition, you agree that if we are not liable for paying an irregular item by reason of the application of the preceding sentence, we will not be liable for paying any other irregular item that contains an unauthorized signature or alteration or was initiated or created by the same wrongdoer, whether in connection with the same account or other accounts.

If an item is presented for payment against your account in paper form, we convert the item to an electronic image. Other items are presented to us for payment already in electronic form (as in the case of an electronic check conversion). Regardless of how the item is presented to us (in paper or electronic form), we will store and retain the electronic information on the item for as long as the law requires. We also retain copies of your statements for the time period required by law. You may obtain a copy of a statement or an item for a charge per copy as permitted by applicable law and as set forth in our Disclosure of Products and Fees.

PROCESSING OF ITEMS – Third-Party Processing; Automated Processing

You recognize and acknowledge that we have adopted industry-standard automated collection and payment procedures, and may use third-party processors to perform these procedures, so that we can process the greatest volume of items at the lowest possible cost to all customers. You authorize and approve our use of such procedures and of agents to handle our processing. The automated procedures rely primarily on information encoded into each item in magnetic ink. In recognition of this fact, you agree that in paying an item or taking an item for collection, we may disregard all information on the item other than the identity of the payor bank, the amount of the item, and any other information encoded onto the item in magnetic ink according to general banking standards, whether or not that information is consistent with other information on the item. You agree to reimburse us for any loss or expense we incur because you issue or deposit an item containing such extra information. Furthermore. you agree that we will not be deemed to fail to exercise ordinary care in paying an item solely because our procedures do not provide for review of signatures or other sight examination of items with a face amount below an amount specified by us from time to time.

CHECK ORDERS

All checks, withdrawal forms, and deposit slips must be on forms obtained through us or which we approve in advance. You are responsible for verifying the accuracy of all information on these forms. Our liability, if any, for any printing errors on the forms obtained through us is limited to the cost of replacement. We will not be responsible or liable for any other loss or damage you sustain. In addition, we are not responsible or liable for any losses or damages you sustain from the use of forms not obtained through us or approved by us in advance, including, but not limited to, your (i) electing to have checks printed by a vendor that we have not approved; (ii) using check stock or security features that do not survive conversion of the check to an electronic item or a substitute

check; (iii) making checks out in such a way (e.g., lightly colored ink) that the information does not survive the conversion of the check to an electronic item or a substitute check; (iv) using check stock that contains printing inaccuracies, faulty magnetic ink, or faulty encoding; or (v) using check stock that contains duplicate serial numbers.

NOTICES

Any notice or statement we give you concerning your account is effective when mailed or delivered to the address we have for you in our account records, when sent to you electronically (if you have agreed to receive your statements and notices electronically) at the electronic address we have for you in our account records, or when held for you in one of our branch offices upon your request. If the account has more than one co-owner or depositor, notice to any one will be considered effective notice to all. Any notice you give us will be effective after we receive the notice and have had a reasonable time to act upon it.

YOUR CONTACT INFORMATION; CHANGE OF INFORMATION (Addresses and Phone Numbers)

When you open your account you provide us with your contact information, which may include your mailing address, email address and telephone numbers, including mobile/cell phone numbers ("contact information"). You are required to notify us promptly when any of your contact information changes. We are relieved of any responsibility to give you notice of a problem or other issue regarding your account if you have not provided us with correct and up-to-date contact information.

We will use the contact information you provide to us and which is in our records to contact you for various reasons. If you have provided us with your cell phone number, you consent and agree to accept calls and text messages to your cell phone from us. Our communications to you via your cell phone may include servicing calls, alerts concerning your accounts and other messages. For example, we may call or send text messages to you at your cell phone number when there is an insufficient balance in your account to honor checks you have written, with alerts concerning your account, and/or regarding amounts you owe us (collection calls) on your accounts. You acknowledge and agree that our attempts to call or text you using any telephone or cell phone number you provide to us may be automatically dialed, including prerecorded messages and texts. We will not use autodialed or prerecorded message calls or texts to contact you for marketing purposes unless we receive your prior express written consent to do so. You do not have to consent to receive autodialed or prerecorded message calls or texts in order to enjoy and use the products and services we offer.

· ALEDTS

We may send you electronic alerts (e.g., account alerts, online transaction alerts, security alerts and Free First Citizens Security Alerts) concerning your account. These alerts may be sent to you from time to time via email, telephone call, text message, or via the message board on your online banking account. You must enable some types of alerts through your online banking account. We will send you other types of alerts automatically. You have the option to instruct us to not send certain alerts. Please review your applicable online banking agreement for more detailed information on alerts. Free First Citizens Security Alerts in connection with debit card transactions are explained in more detail in Section D of this Agreement.

ANY ALERTS WE SEND TO YOU ARE PROVIDED AS A CONVENIENCE TO YOU AND/OR FOR ADDED SECURITY. WE ARE NOT RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY FAILURE TO SEND, OR ANY DELAY IN SENDING, ANY ALERTS, INCLUDING ANY TYPE OF SECURITY ALERT, OR FOR ANY FAILURE OR DELAY IN YOUR RECEIPT OF AN ALERT. WE DO NOT GUARANTEE THE DELIVERY OR ACCURACY OF THE CONTENTS OF ANY ALERT. YOU AGREE THAT YOU WILL NOT RELY EXCLUSIVELY ON RECEIVING ALERTS FROM US TO MONITOR YOUR ACCOUNT. WITH THE EXCEPTION OF FREE FIRST CITIZENS SECURITY ALERTS, ANY ALERT WE SEND TO YOUR CELL PHONE NUMBER MAY BE SUBJECT TO THIRD-PARTY MESSAGE AND DATA RATES.

UNDELIVERABLE STATEMENTS

If you fail to notify us of a change in your mailing address, or if for any other reason your account statement is returned to us, we reserve the right to destroy the statement and the accompanying items. We may recognize a change in your mailing address submitted to us by any owner, co-owner, authorized signer or agent on an account. We may recognize and accept a change to your mailing address upon our receipt of notification of an address change from the U.S. Postal Service.

If we mail your statement to the address we have on our records, and the statement is returned as undeliverable, we will charge your account an undeliverable statement fee as set forth in our Disclosure of Products and Fees for each returned statement up to three statements. If three consecutive statements are returned to us as undeliverable, your account will be placed in "undeliverable statement" status. Monthly service charge fees will continue to apply and will be charged to your account. We will stop mailing statements to you; however, any undelivered statements and images of any accompanying checks or items paid will be available to you at any time upon your request, and you agree that your statements and items have been "made available" to you under this procedure for purposes of your obligation to review your statements in a timely manner and report any irregularities to us.

INDEMNIFICATION/LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

Our relationship with you is that of debtor to creditor, and we do not owe you a fiduciary responsibility with respect to your account unless we explicitly agree otherwise in writing. Our responsibility to you and to your account is limited to the exercise of ordinary care as established by the reasonable commercial standards of the banking business. We will not be responsible to you for any loss caused by matters beyond our reasonable control including, but not limited to: wars, riots, actual or threatened terrorist acts, civil insurrection, strikes, computer failure, natural disasters, or the loss of power, communication or transportation facilities. We will not be liable to you under any circumstances for any consequential, incidental, special, or punitive damages, regardless of whether you informed us of the possibility of such damages. You agree to indemnify us and hold us harmless from any losses, liabilities, and expenses we may incur, including our attorneys' fees, in connection with your account, except to the extent caused by our failure to exercise ordinary care. Your liability will be joint and several. We may charge any of your accounts with us for any such losses, liabilities or expenses without prior notice to you.

Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to limit any rights or defenses available to us, or any warranty, indemnity or liability imposed on you, under applicable state or federal laws or regulations or any separate agreements applicable to your accounts.

WAIVER OF TERMS

We reserve the right to waive the enforcement of any of the terms of this Agreement with you with respect to any transaction or series of transactions. Any such waiver will not affect our right to enforce any of our rights with respect to other customers, or to enforce any of our rights with respect to later transactions with you and any such waiver is not sufficient to modify the terms of this Agreement.

REFUSAL OF DEPOSITS, CLOSING OF ACCOUNT AND CREDIT REPORTS

We reserve the right to refuse any deposits to your account, to require the withdrawal of any account balance due you, and to close your account without prior notice to you, all with or without cause. You will remain liable for checks and other transactions in process and for the payment of any accrued fees if we close your account. If we determine that for regulatory or other reasons it is prudent and in the best interests of the Bank to close your account after account opening, we will only pay the interest that has accrued on the account up to the date of closing, even if the account we are closing is a time deposit account and we are closing it prior to maturity. You authorize us to request and obtain one or more credit reports about you from one or more credit reporting agencies for the purpose of considering your application for new accounts, reviewing or collecting any account opened by you, or any other legitimate business purpose.

PRIVACY OF ACCOUNT INFORMATION

We will disclose information to third parties about your account(s) We will disclose information to third parties about your account(s) only in accordance with the policies set forth in our Privacy Notice, which is incorporated into this Agreement by reference as amended from time to time. Please refer to our Privacy Notice for more details on our information-sharing policies. Copies of our Privacy Notice are available at any of our branches; by calling us at FC DIRECT (see "Bank Contacts" section); or on our website at firstcitizens.com.

From time to time we are legally required to provide information in response to court or administrative orders, subpoenas, summonses, tax levies, or other such legal process. You will pay our standard charges for the research and copying of documents and for any other expenses we incur in complying with such legal process including, but not limited to, our attorneys' fees. Our fees will be determined from our Disclosure of Products and Fees in effect at the time that the services are rendered, and we may charge your account for any such fees and expenses.

ACCOUNT DOCUMENTS

All transactions between you and the Bank relating to your account will be governed by the terms of this Agreement, the current Disclosure of Products and Fees, the account signature card, the account type, any other documents or records relating to your account, our rules and regulations and applicable state and federal laws and regulations, as they all may now exist or may hereafter be amended. If there is a conflict between this Agreement and the terms of your signature card, the terms of this Agreement will prevail.

• ELECTRONIC SIGNATURES AND RECORDS

You agree that electronic signatures and electronic records shall have the same effect as physical signatures and records regarding your transactions with us and this Agreement to the extent allowed by applicable law.

GOVERNING LAW; COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS

Your account, your rights, and our rights and obligations under this Agreement, are generally governed by and interpreted in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations of the United States of America and those of the state and municipality in which we deem the account to be located ("applicable state law"), all as amended from time to time and as applicable to your account type. Ordinarily, we will determine the location of your account as follows:

- State of your Residence If you opened your account in a branch or over the telephone, the applicable state law will be the law of the state in which the branch where you opened your account is located.
- North Carolina If you opened the account through a remote or digital channel (such as online or our mobile application), we will deem the account to be located in North Carolina, and therefore, subject to applicable North Carolina law (regardless of whether you live in a state with a physical branch location).

We reserve the right to change the location of your account in our records at any time in our discretion.

Unless otherwise required by law, we will have no responsibility or liability to you or any other person or entity: (1) relating to our decision to either take or decline to take any requested action; or (2) for having, or not having, familiarity with the laws or procedures of any state other than the state where we deem your account to be located.

By maintaining an account with us, you submit to the personal jurisdiction of the state where your account is deemed to be held. A lawsuit or other legal proceeding regarding your account must be brought in a proper federal court or in a court in the applicable state. If federal and applicable state laws are inconsistent, we will be solely responsible for determining which provision(s) should take precedence. If there is any conflict between this Agreement and applicable federal or state law, this Agreement will be considered changed to the extent necessary to comply with the law. If any provision of this Agreement is declared to be invalid, unenforceable or illegal, that part will not affect the validity or enforceability of the remainder of this Agreement. Bank and Depositor agree to comply with the provisions of all applicable federal, state, county and municipal laws, regulations and ordinances, and shall be responsible for obtaining any and all authorizations from any applicable governmental authority that may be required for performance under this Agreement.

AMENDMENTS TO THIS AGREEMENT

We reserve the right to amend this Agreement at any time. The terms "amend" or "amendment" include a change or supplementation to, or deletion of, existing provisions and/or the addition of new provisions whether or not the amendment or the subject of the amendment was addressed in previous versions of this Agreement or other agreements governing your account. We will provide you with any notice required by law of any amendments to this Agreement. If the manner of notice is not specified by law, you agree that we may notify you in any manner we deem reasonable, including statement message, letter or other mailing, email if you have agreed to receive email communications from us, or

any other reasonable means in our discretion. Mailed notices, or, if applicable, emailed notices, will be sent to the address we have for you on our account records. If notice is not required by law, we may in our discretion not notify you of technical amendments that do not affect your or our substantive rights or obligations under this Agreement. Your continued use of your account after the effective date of an amendment, or after 30 days from the date of our notice to you if no effective date is stated, will constitute your acceptance of the amendment.

• INTERSTATE BANKING

We have branches in a number of states. You agree that we can charge different fees and offer different services in different states. Some products and services mentioned in this Agreement may not be offered in all states. If your account is maintained through a branch in one state, you may make deposits or withdrawals from your account at one of our branches in another state. If you desire to move your account so that it is maintained by a branch office in another state, you should contact your local branch in that state.

• TELEPHONE MONITORING

You agree that we may record any telephone conversation with you to monitor the quality of service we provide and verify transactions affecting your account.

ARBITRATION PROVISION

PLEASE READ THIS PROVISION CAREFULLY: IT PROVIDES THAT CERTAIN DISPUTES MAY BE RESOLVED BY BINDING ARBITRATION AT THE ELECTION OF EITHER PARTY. ARBITRATION REPLACES THE RIGHT TO GO TO COURT, INCLUDING THE RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL AND THE RIGHT TO PARTICIPATE IN A CLASS ACTION LAWSUIT. IN ARBITRATION, A DISPUTE IS RESOLVED BY AN ARBITRATOR RATHER THAN A JUDGE OR JURY. THE RIGHT TO APPEAL THE ARBITRATOR'S DECISION MAY BE LIMITED OR UNAVAILABLE.

AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE

Except as provided below in "EXCEPTIONS TO APPLICABILITY OF ARBITRATION," either you or we may require that any "Claim" (as defined below) be resolved exclusively and finally by binding arbitration, even if the suit already has been filed in court. "Claim" means any claim, controversy or dispute (whether pre-existing, present, or future) based on any theory of law or remedy, made by you or anyone connected with you or claiming through or for you (including a co-owner, representative, or trustee in bankruptcy) that arises from or relates to: (i) this Deposit Account Agreement (or other agreement referencing this provision), any prior agreements relating to your account, or the relationships that result from this Agreement; (ii) your account with us subject to this Agreement ("your account") and transactions on your account; (iii) this Arbitration Provision; (iv) any products, services or benefit programs related to or offered in connection with your account whether or not we offered, introduced, sold or provided them; or (v) any disclosures of information about you or your account.

EXCEPTIONS TO APPLICABILITY OF ARBITRATION

This Arbitration Provision does not limit your or our right to seek temporary injunctive relief from a court pending any arbitration proceeding. We also retain the right and option to exercise our right of set off under applicable law or contract and to exercise judicial remedies to enforce any monetary obligations incurred in connection with your account.

NO CLASS ACTION CLAIMS

No Claim may be arbitrated on a class action basis. Arbitration shall proceed on an individual basis, including Claims made and remedies sought as part of a class action, private attorney general or other representative action. No Claim may be consolidated with the dispute of any other person. With arbitration, you cannot act as a class representative or participate as a member of a class, even if the Claim has been asserted in court.

GENERAL

Any Claim subject to arbitration shall be resolved by binding arbitration administered by the American Arbitration Association ("AAA") before a single neutral arbitrator in the state where we maintain your account. Judgment on the arbitrator's award may be entered by any court having jurisdiction. The AAA's applicable consumer or commercial rules and any supplementary procedures in effect on the date arbitration is filed shall govern the arbitration, subject to this Arbitration Provision. The arbitrator may allow discovery of relevant non-privileged documents.

The arbitrator does not have authority to award punitive, exemplary, statutory or consequential damages or damages for lost profits. The party initiating arbitration pays the initial filing fee. Expenses and fees of the arbitrator are shared equally by the parties unless the arbitrator specifically assesses all or part of the expenses and fees in the award. Award or denial of a Claim must be made in writing and generally state the reasons for the decision.

This Arbitration Provision is made pursuant to a transaction involving interstate commerce and is governed by the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C.§§ 1-16. This Arbitration Provision survives: (i) termination of or changes to the Agreement, your account, or your relationship with us concerning your account; (ii) bankruptcy; and (iii) our transfer of your account.

B. SUBSTITUTE CHECK NOTICE

The following applies to consumer accounts only:

Important Information About Your Checking Account Substitute Checks and Your Rights

What is a substitute check?

To make check processing faster, federal law permits banks to replace original checks with "substitute checks." These checks are similar in size to original checks with a slightly reduced image of the front and back of the original check. The front of a substitute check states: "This is a legal copy of your check. You can use it the same way you would use the original check." You may use a substitute check as proof of payment just like the original check.

Some or all of the checks that you receive back from us may be substitute checks. This notice describes rights you have when you receive substitute checks from us. The rights in this notice do not apply to original checks or to electronic debits to your account. However, you have rights under other law with respect to those transactions.

What are your rights regarding substitute checks?

In certain cases, federal law provides a special procedure that allows you to request a refund for losses you suffer if a substitute check is posted to your account (for example, if you think that we withdrew the wrong amount from your account or that we withdrew

money from your account more than once for the same check). The losses you may attempt to recover under this procedure may include the amount that was withdrawn from your account and fees that were charged as a result of the withdrawal (for example, bounced check fees).

The amount of your refund under this procedure is limited to the amount of your loss or the amount of the substitute check, whichever is less. You also are entitled to interest on the amount of your refund if your account is an interest-bearing account. If your loss exceeds the amount of the substitute check, you may be able to recover additional amounts under other law.

If you use this procedure, you may receive up to \$2,500 of your refund (plus interest if your account earns interest) within 10 business days after we received your claim and the remainder of your refund (plus interest if your account earns interest) not later than 45 calendar days after we received your claim.

We may reverse the refund (including any interest on the refund) if we later are able to demonstrate that the substitute check was correctly posted to your account.

How do you make a claim for a refund?

If you believe that you have suffered a loss relating to a substitute check that you received and was posted to your account, please contact us at FC DIRECT at the telephone number indicated in the Bank Contacts section at the end of this Agreement.

You must contact us within 40 calendar days of the date that we mailed (or otherwise delivered by a means to which you agreed) the substitute check in question or the account statement showing that the substitute check was posted to your account, whichever is later. We will extend this time period if you were not able to make a timely claim because of extraordinary circumstances. If you make your claim orally, we may require that you send your claim in writing within 10 business days.

Your claim must include:

- A description of why you have suffered a loss (for example, you think the amount withdrawn was incorrect);
- An estimate of the amount of your loss;
- An explanation of why the substitute check you received is insufficient to confirm that you suffered a loss; and
- A copy of the substitute check and/or the following information to help us identify the substitute check: the check number, the name of the person to whom you wrote the check, and the amount of the check.

C. FUNDS AVAILABILITY POLICY (Regulation CC)

This policy statement applies to "transaction" accounts only. Transaction accounts, in general, are accounts which permit an unlimited number of payments to third persons and an unlimited number of telephone and pre-authorized transfers to other accounts of yours with us. Checking accounts are the most common type of transaction accounts. Feel free to ask us whether any of your other accounts might also be subject to this policy.

Our policy is to make funds from your deposits available to you as follows:

- **Cash deposits:** the business day we receive your deposit.
- Checks: the first business day after the day we receive your deposit.

Electronic payments:

- Wire transfers: the business day we receive your credit transfer.
- Automated Clearing House (ACH) credit transfers (e.g., direct deposits, automated payroll deposits, etc.): the business day we receive settlement for the deposit (generally the day after we receive payment for the transfer from the Federal Reserve, our ACH Operator).

However, longer delays may apply (see applicable section below).

BUSINESS DAY / CUTOFF TIMES

In determining the availability of your deposits, every day is a "business day" except Saturdays, Sundays and federal holidays. Transactions occurring prior to the cutoff time on a business day will be considered to have taken place that day, while transactions occurring after the cutoff time will be considered to have occurred the following business day. Your transactions will be subject to different cutoff times as follows, depending on how you initiate the transaction.

- At the branch: Our business day cutoff times are generally 5:00 p.m. local time Monday through Thursday and 6:00 p.m. local time on Friday; however, these times may vary by branch. Certain branches may have an earlier cutoff time, and at certain branches with extended hours the cutoff time may be later. Check with your local branch or call us at FC Direct (at the telephone number indicated in our "Bank Contacts" section) to determine the cutoff time for specific branches where you initiate transactions.
- At our ATMs: Our ATM business day cutoff times vary by location. Cutoff times start at 12:00 noon local time; however, some ATMs have evening cutoff times.
- Online: Disclosures concerning transactions initiated through our online banking service are covered separately in our online banking agreements.

Again, in order for your deposit to be considered received on the business day you make the deposit, the deposit must be made before our cutoff time.

LONGER DELAYS

In some cases, depending on the type of check you deposit, we may delay your ability to withdraw funds from check deposits beyond the first business day. Then, the funds will generally be made available by the second business day after the day of deposit. However, the first \$225 of your deposits may be available on the first business day after the day of your deposit. This amount will increase to \$275 on July 1, 2025 pursuant to Regulation CC, 12 CFR Part 229.

In addition, availability of funds you deposit by check may be delayed for a longer period (longer than two days) under the following circumstances:

- 1. We believe a check you deposit will not be paid.
- 2. You deposit checks totaling more than \$5,525 on any one day before July 1, 2025. On July 1, 2025, the total amount must be in excess of \$6,725 per Regulation CC, 12 CFR Part 229.

- 3. You redeposit a check that has been returned unpaid.
- You have overdrawn your account repeatedly in the last six months.
- There is an emergency, such as failure of communications or computer equipment.

If your ability to withdraw funds is delayed for any of these reasons, the funds will generally be made available no later than the fifth business day after the day of your deposit.

SPECIAL RULES FOR NEW CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS

We may also delay the availability of funds beyond the time periods described above if a deposit is made into a new customer account. If you are a new customer, the following special rules may apply during the first 30 days your account is open.

Funds from electronic direct deposits to your account will be available on the business day we receive the deposit. Funds from deposits of cash, wire transfers, and the first \$5,525 of a day's total deposits of cashier's, certified, teller's, traveler's, and federal, state and local government checks will be available on the first business day after the day of your deposit if the deposit meets certain conditions. For example, the checks must be payable to you. The excess over \$5,525 from the deposit of these checks, and the funds from the deposit of all other checks, will be available by the fifth business day after the day of your deposit. The amount of funds available from deposits of checks listed herein will increase from \$5,525 to \$6,725 per Regulation CC on July 1, 2025.

Once funds are available, you can withdraw the funds in cash and we will use the funds to pay checks that you have written.

HOLDS ON OTHER FUNDS

If we cash a check for you that is drawn on another bank, we may withhold the availability of a corresponding amount of funds that is already in your account. Those funds will be available at the time funds from the check we cashed would have been available if you had deposited it.

If we accept for deposit a check that is drawn on another bank, we may make funds from the deposit available for withdrawal immediately but delay your availability to withdraw a corresponding amount of funds that you have on deposit in another account with us. The funds in the other account would then not be available for withdrawal until the time periods that are described elsewhere in this disclosure for the type of check that you have deposited.

NOTICE

If you will need the funds from a deposit right away, you should ask us when the funds will be available. If we are not going to make all the funds from your deposit available on the first business day after the day of your deposit, we will notify you at the time you make your deposit. We will also tell you when the funds will be available. If your deposit is not made directly to one of our employees, or if we decide to take this action after you have left the premises, we will mail you the notice by the day after we receive your deposit or the day after we make the decision to delay the availability of the funds.

D. AGREEMENT AND DISCLOSURE FOR ELECTRONIC FUND TRANSFER SERVICES (Including Regulation E Disclosures)

This Agreement and Disclosure for Electronic Fund Transfer Services applies to electronic fund transfers to or from consumer and business accounts at the Bank. The section of this Agreement and Disclosure entitled "Regulation E" pertains only to electronic fund transfers involving consumer accounts.

An electronic fund transfer is a transfer of funds, other than a transaction originated by a check or a draft, initiated by an ATM card, debit card or through an electronic terminal, telephone, computer, or magnetic tape for the purpose of authorizing us to debit or credit your checking or savings account. The direct deposit of your paycheck or social security check, the automatic payment of your utility bills, and automated teller machine and debit card transactions are examples of electronic fund transfers. Examples of transactions which are not considered electronic fund transfers include:

- · Wire transfers.
- The automatic crediting of interest to your account.
- Pre-authorized transfers between your accounts with us, such as an automatic transfer from your savings to your checking account.
- Pre-authorized transfers from your account with us to the account of your family member with us.
- Pre-authorized loan payments to repay your loan with us.

Your First Citizens Visa® Debit card or Visa® Business Debit card (your "Visa Debit card") can be used at ATMs (First Citizens Bank and non-First Citizens Bank ATMs) and can also be used as a debit card at any merchant displaying the Visa logo. As used in this Agreement, the term "card" by itself refers interchangeably to First Citizens ATM cards and First Citizens Visa Debit cards. Use of your ATM card will require a personal code (referred to as a personal identification number, or "PIN"). A PIN will also be required when you use your Visa Debit card to complete a PIN-based transaction, such as a point-of-sale PIN-based purchase.

When you use your Visa Debit card to purchase goods or services from a merchant who debits your account electronically using a point-of-sale electronic terminal at the merchant's location, you will normally be required to use your PIN. These transactions are referred to as "PIN," "PIN-based" or "online" debit card transactions. In contrast, when you use your Visa Debit card to purchase goods or services from a merchant who displays the Visa logo, the transaction will be handled very much like a traditional credit card transaction. The use of your PIN will not normally be required. For this reason, these transactions are referred to as "no PIN," "non-PIN," "signature-based," or "off-line" debit card transactions. Your Visa Debit card is not a credit card, however. Unlike a credit card transaction, your checking account is directly debited when you use your Visa Debit card.

In addition to the electronic fund transfer services discussed below, our customers may enroll in one of our Internet online banking services. This Agreement and Disclosure applies primarily to the electronic fund transfer services we provide that are listed below. We provide additional disclosures to our online banking customers.

Your rights, liabilities and responsibilities for electronic fund transfers are governed by this Agreement and, to the extent applicable, by the provisions of the federal Electronic Fund Transfer Act and the

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau's Regulation E. This Agreement also contains the disclosures we are required by Regulation E to provide to consumers for our electronic fund transfer services. The terms and conditions of this Agreement are in addition to the terms and conditions of any deposit account agreements governing accounts that can be accessed through electronic fund transfers. By using your ATM card, Visa Debit card, or any of our other electronic fund transfer services, you agree to be bound by the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

PROTECTING YOUR CARD

Always protect your card and keep it in a safe place. Do not leave it out where it is accessible to other people in your house or at your workplace. Keep your PIN a secret. If you write it down, keep the writing in a secure place and never write it down on the card itself. Never give any information about your card or PIN over the telephone, especially if you do not initiate the call.

FREE FIRST CITIZENS SECURITY ALERTS — DEBIT CARDS

If you have access to cell phone text (SMS) messaging through one of the major wireless carriers (AT&T, Verizon, or T-Mobile), we may, as permitted by law, send you Free First Citizens Security Alerts ("Free Security Alerts") via text messaging to your cell phone number in response to suspected fraud or other suspicious activity initiated through your debit card. Carriers are not responsible or liable for delayed or undelivered messages.

Free Security Alerts and your text replies to these alerts, are Freeto-End-User (FTEU). This means if you receive or reply to a Free Security Alert text message, you will not be charged a messaging or data fee from your carrier.

You can opt out of our Free Security Alert service any time by replying STOP to a Free Security Alert text message or by calling FC Direct at the telephone number contained in the "Bank Contacts" section at the end of this Agreement. If you have questions about a Free Security Alert you receive, either reply to the text with the word HELP or call us at FC DIRECT.

GENERAL PROVISIONS REGARDING USE OF YOUR CARD

The use of your ATM card and your Visa Debit card is subject to the following general terms and conditions:

1. OBLIGATIONS AND LIABILITY. When you use your card or authorize anyone else to use your card, you agree to be bound by the provisions of this Agreement, to be responsible for all authorized transfers, withdrawals and transactions made by use of the card, and to be responsible for unauthorized use of the card to the extent permitted by law. You must tell us about any unauthorized transfer(s) from your business account as soon as possible (and within 60 days after the statement showing the transfer(s) was made available to you). If you do not notify us promptly, you may not get back the money you lost on either the initial unauthorized transfer or on any subsequent unauthorized transfers if we can prove that we could have stopped someone from completing the subsequent transfers if you had told us about the initial unauthorized transfer(s) in time.

CONSUMER ACCOUNTS.

- Regulation E: If the account to which your card is linked is a
 consumer account, your liability for unauthorized transactions is governed primarily by the federal Electronic Fund
 Transfer Act and the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau's
 Regulation E. A summary of your rights, obligations and
 liabilities under Regulation E are included as part of this
 section D following this Agreement and Disclosure. Provisional credit may be given while we investigate your claim.
- Visa's Zero Liability Policy: In addition to protections you have under Regulation E, Visa's Zero Liability Policy covers fraudulent transactions processed on Visa's network using your debit card. You must report unauthorized transactions promptly.

BUSINESS ACCOUNTS

- Regulation E Protections Not Applicable: The consumer protection provisions of Regulation E apply only to electronic fund transfers involving consumer checking and savings accounts established primarily for personal, family or household purposes. However, as a practical matter, and although we are not required to by law or regulation, for errors involving cards linked to business accounts, we generally follow the error resolution procedures we use for consumer accounts, which are outlined below in our Regulation E disclosures. We are not required by law to provide your business account with provisional credit while we investigate your claim; and we may, or may not, do so in our sole discretion.
- Visa's Zero Liability Policy: Certain commercial card transactions are not covered under Visa's Zero Liability Policy. For instance card transactions made by a person authorized to transact on the linked account are excluded from Visa's Zero Liability protection as well as transactions made by a card-holder that exceeds the authority given by the account owner.
- 2. CARD TRANSACTIONS SUBJECT TO GOVERNING AGREEMENTS: **AUTHORIZATION TO CHARGE ACCOUNT.** Transactions made through the use of the card are subject to the terms and conditions of this Deposit Account Agreement, and you authorize us to charge or credit the applicable account for the amount and type of transaction made in accordance with these terms and conditions. If you have a line of credit related to your account (such as Checkline Reserve®, Checkline Reserve Plus®, Capital Line or EquityLine), by requesting a card you specifically request card access to the line of credit and you understand and agree that the provisions of the agreement relating to your credit line will govern overdrafts, automatic advances to maintain the minimum balance necessary to avoid account service charges, and direct advances resulting from the use of the card. You authorize us to debit your related deposit account for any payments owed on your line of credit, regardless of whether the line of credit is in default.
- 3. OUR RIGHTS REGARDING ISSUANCE AND REVOCATION OF CARDS. We can refuse to issue a card to anyone. We also reserve the right to revoke a card at any time without notice to you, and we may elect to do so if your card is inactive. The card is our property, and you agree to surrender it to us upon our request. In our discretion, we may issue a card to the account owner, any account co-owner, and any person authorized to receive a card by the account owner or any account co-owner. We reserve the absolute right to revoke card privileges with or without cause or notice, unless otherwise required by law. If more than one card

is issued to access an account, we reserve the absolute right to revoke any or all of the cards used to access the account upon the request of the account owner, any account co-owner, or any person authorized to receive a card by the account owner or any account co-owner, regardless of whether the card or cards to be revoked are in the possession of the person requesting revocation. When we revoke a card, the card cannot thereafter be used to access any account or effect any electronic fund transfer.

- 4. OVERDRAFTS. If the use of a card overdraws your account and the overdraft is not covered by a transfer from an approved line of credit or savings account linked to your account, you agree to make immediate payment to us of the amount of any such overdraft and related service charges. You also agree we may charge the overdraft against your other accounts with us to the extent permitted by law and by your account agreement. Subsequent items presented against your account may be assessed a per item service charge whether the items are paid or returned.
- 5. ACCOUNTS WITH CO-OWNERS. If the account has co-owners, each co-owner will be jointly and severally liable for any obligation that arises when any card is used to access the account. Any notice we give you concerning the card is effective when mailed or delivered to the address we have for you in our account records or otherwise sent to you. If the account has more than one co-owner, notice to any one co-owner will be considered effective notice to all.
- 6. CARD ACCESS TO ACCOUNTS. When used at an ATM, your Visa Debit card may be used to access any checking or savings account to which the card is "linked." When used as a debit card for merchant purchases, your Visa Debit card will debit only the primary checking account "linked" to that card – it cannot be used to debit any other checking or savings account "linked" to that card.
- YOUR RESPONSIBILITY FOR PAYMENTS MADE BY CARD, YOU authorize us to debit or credit your account as appropriate for the total amount shown on any debit or credit instructions originated by use of the card. We will not make cash refunds to you on purchases you make with the card, and you must handle directly with the merchant any claim or defense you have with respect to goods or services purchased with the card. Your assertion of a claim or defense will not relieve you of the obligation to pay the total amount of the sales draft and any appropriate charges we are authorized to make. Any refunds the merchant makes to you of amounts charged by use of the card must be made on a credit voucher signed by you and the merchant and presented by the merchant to us. You are not permitted to stop payment on any sales draft or withdrawal voucher originated by use of the card. We will not be liable to you for any claims you have against any merchant arising from any debit card transaction.
- 8. ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS CONCERNING NON-PIN DEBIT CARD TRANSACTIONS. The use of your Visa Debit card to effect non-PIN debit card transactions is subject to the following additional provisions:
 - You authorize us to debit your account and agree that the use
 of your Visa Debit card with any merchant, whether or not you
 have signed any sales or debit authorization, will constitute
 a simultaneous withdrawal from and/or demand on your
 account, even though the transaction may not actually be
 posted to your account until a later date.

- When you use your Visa Debit card, the merchant may request authorization for the transaction. In essence, the merchant is asking us to "guarantee" payment to the merchant if the merchant accepts your Visa Debit card. We will provide authorization if the available balance in your account (plus the unused balance of any line of credit or savings account linked to your account) is sufficient to cover the transaction at the time of the merchant's request. If the available balance is not sufficient to cover the transaction at the time the merchant requests authorization, we may either authorize or deny the transaction depending on a number of factors including the account history, whether the account is a consumer or business account, and, if a consumer account, whether the account holder has "opted-in" to our payment of ATM and one-time debit card transactions presenting against insufficient funds.
- When we authorize a transaction, the transaction becomes a pending debit and we will automatically place a "hold" on your account for the amount authorized. The available balance in your account (and, to the extent needed, the unused balance of any line of credit or savings account linked to your account) will be reduced by the amount for which the merchant has received authorization, even if (i) the transaction has not been settled or posted by us, or (ii) the transaction may not be consummated. The "hold" placed on your account will be released when (i) the authorized transaction has cleared through us, or (ii) the hold period expires, whichever occurs first. The hold period will not exceed three business days. When we authorize a transaction and place a "hold" on your account, the available balance in your account will be reduced. As a result, funds in your account subject to the hold will not be available (i) for withdrawal or transfer by you in person or at an ATM, (ii) for subsequent debit card transactions, or (iii) to satisfy items presented for payment against your account (including checks, drafts and pre-authorized transfers).
- You agree to be liable for all charges resulting from our authorization of a transaction (including, for example, NSF and overdraft charges), and you release us from all liability arising from any holds we place on your account when debit transactions are authorized. This release extends to our refusal (i) to permit you to withdraw or transfer funds from your account (either in person or at an ATM), (ii) to authorize subsequent debit card transactions, and (iii) to satisfy items presented for payment against your account (including checks, drafts and pre-authorized transfers).
- 9. TRANSACTIONS IN NON-U.S. DOLLAR CURRENCY. If you conduct a debit card transaction in currency other than U.S. dollars, Visa will convert it to U.S. dollars by multiplying the transaction amount in the non-U.S. dollar currency by a currency conversion rate that is either (i) the government-mandated rate in effect on the central processing date, or (ii) a rate selected by Visa from the range of rates available in wholesale currency markets for the applicable central processing date, which may vary from the rate Visa itself receives. The resulting U.S. dollar transaction amount will be charged to your account. Visa charges us a fee on transactions initiated outside of the United States and on transactions conducted in non-U.S. currency. If you use your Visa Debit card to conduct either of these types of transactions, we will charge your account, and you agree to pay, a foreign transaction fee that is a percentage of the transaction amount as specified in our Disclosure of Products and Fees.

10. **MODIFICATIONS.** We may modify the terms of this Agreement from time to time. We will provide you with any notice required by law of any changes to the terms of this Agreement.

REGULATION E DISCLOSURES (Consumer Accounts)

The following is a summary of your rights, liabilities and obligations for consumer electronic fund transfers under the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau's Regulation E. **The following disclosures do not apply to business electronic fund transfers.** Disclosures with respect to electronic fund transfers initiated through either of our First Citizens online banking services are additionally provided in our online banking agreements.

SERVICES AVAILABLE

We offer the following electronic fund transfer services in connection with savings and checking accounts (including checking accounts that bear interest):

ATM TRANSACTIONS. Your Visa Debit card may be used to initiate various transactions at ATMs. ATM transactions normally require the use of your PIN.

- ATM TRANSACTIONS AT FIRST CITIZENS ATMS. You can use your Visa Debit card at First Citizens ATMs to conduct the following transactions. The starred services are not available at all First Citizens ATMs.
 - Withdraw cash from your checking or savings account.
 - Make deposits to your accounts.
 - Transfer funds between your checking and savings accounts.
 - Inquire as to the balance in your accounts.
 - Cash checks, split deposits between two accounts and receive cash back in connection with deposited items.*
 - Make payments on your First Citizens installment loans and any revolving lines of credit linked to your checking account, if you request this feature (not available for Asset Management Accounts).
 - Access your First Citizens Bank credit card account to obtain cash advances, transfer funds to your savings or checking account, or make payments on your credit card account, if these features have been requested by you. Transfers to and from your credit card are subject to the terms and conditions of your credit card agreement.*
- TRANSACTIONS AT THIRD-PARTY ATMS. You can use your Visa Debit card at an ATM that we do not own or operate but which participates in one of several ATM networks in which we are a member:
 - Withdraw cash from your account. Withdrawals may, by prior arrangement, include draws on your Checkline Reserve, Checkline Reserve Plus, or EquityLine account (not available for Asset Management Accounts).
 - Inquire as to the balance in your account.

DEBIT CARD TRANSACTIONS. In addition to the ATM transactions listed above, you can use your Visa Debit card to conduct PIN-based transactions to purchase goods and services at any business or merchant that has agreed to accept debit cards and that displays the logo of one of the networks in which we participate.

You can also use your Visa Debit card to conduct signature-based transactions to purchase goods and services at any business or merchant displaying the Visa logo.

PRE-AUTHORIZED TRANSFERS. You can arrange, on a regular basis, to:

- · Pay certain bills automatically from your account.
- Receive certain automatic deposits to your account from other parties, such as your employer or a government agency (for example, Social Security payments or payroll payments).
- Transfer funds automatically between your First Citizens accounts and your accounts at other financial institutions.

ELECTRONIC CHECK CONVERSION. You may authorize a merchant or other payee to initiate a one-time electronic payment from your checking account using information from your check to pay for purchases or to pay bills.

TRANSACTION LIMITATIONS

STANDARD LIMITS. We may, at our sole discretion, impose transaction limitations on your account with respect to electronic fund transfer services. These transaction limitations generally apply on a "per card" or "per account" and "per calendar day" basis. We reserve the right to increase or decrease these limits from time to time.

ADDITIONAL LIMITS. At our discretion we may refuse to pay any check presented for payment through an ATM transaction. For security reasons we may impose additional limits on the number and dollar amount of transactions you can perform using your card, and we can impose additional security restrictions on check cashing, "split" deposits, and "cash-back" deposit transactions.

FEES

The following is a general description of our fees in connection with your Visa Debit card or ATM card. The specific fees, which are subject to change, are published in our Disclosure of Products and Fees, which was provided to you at account opening. We reserve the right to change the fee schedule from time to time.

ATM FEES. Fees may apply to ATM transactions at First Citizens and non-First Citizens ATMs.

- Our Fees: Generally, we will not charge you any fees for conducting transactions, including balance inquiries, fund transfers and withdrawals, using a First Citizens Bank ATM. However, at select First Citizens ATMs we may charge you a fee for making cash withdrawals. If we charge you a fee, it will be disclosed at the time of the transaction as stated in our Disclosure of Products and Fees. We may also charge you a fee for using non-First Citizens ATMs to make cash withdrawals, funds transfers or balance inquiries with your Visa Debit card.
- Third-Party Fees: When you use your Visa Debit card at a third-party ATM you may be charged a fee by the third party ATM operator or owner, or by the national, regional or local network used to complete the transaction. You may also be charged a fee for a balance inquiry even if you do not complete a fund transfer. Such fees are (i) disclosed at the time of the transaction; (ii) are in addition to any other applicable fees; and (iii) apply regardless of your account balance or account type.

FEES FOR NON-ATM TRANSACTIONS. Transaction fees for PIN-based transactions initiated with your Visa Debit card may apply and are set forth in our Disclosure of Products and Fees under each account type. We charge no transaction fees for non-PIN based transactions unless they are conducted in non-U.S. currency.

OTHER FEES. Any other fees we charge in connection with your use of your Visa Debit card, including card replacement fees, mini statement fees, and foreign transaction fees for transactions initiated outside of the United States or conducted in non-U.S. currency, are set forth in our Disclosure of Products and Fees.

BUSINESS DAYS

For purposes of these disclosures, our business days are Monday through Friday. Weekend days and bank holidays are not included.

DISCLOSURE OF ACCOUNT INFORMATION

We will not disclose information about your account(s) or the transfers you make, except:

- As necessary to complete or document transactions, to investigate possible unauthorized transactions, or to combat fraud.
- To verify the existence and standing of your account at the request of a third party, such as a credit bureau or merchant.
- If you give us your written or oral permission.
- To comply with government agency requests or regulations or in response to court orders.
- To offer you products and services that we believe may interest you.

Please refer to our Privacy Notice for more details on our information-sharing policies. Copies of our Privacy Notice are available at any of our branches, on our website, or by calling us (see "Bank Contacts" section at the end of this document).

DOCUMENTATION OF TRANSFERS

TRANSACTIONS USING YOUR ATM OR VISA DEBIT CARD. You can get a receipt (i) at the time you make any transfer to or from your account using one of our ATMs or any ATM that participates in one of the ATM networks of which we are a member, or (ii) at the time you purchase goods or services using your Visa Debit card to effect PIN-based debit card transactions at point-of-sale electronic terminals. Receipts may not be made available for transactions of \$15 or less.

PERIODIC STATEMENTS. We will send you a monthly account statement unless there are no transfers in a particular month. In any case, you will get a statement at least quarterly. However, we will discontinue sending you statements if your statements are returned to us as undeliverable for three consecutive months.

PRE-AUTHORIZED PAYMENTS

PRE-AUTHORIZED CREDITS/DIRECT DEPOSITS. If you have arranged to have direct deposits made to your account at least once every 60 days from the same company, person or government agency, the applicable party making the transaction will tell you every time they send us the money. You can also find out whether or not the deposit has been made by checking your account using one of our online banking services or by calling us using the toll-free number listed in the "Bank Contacts" section.

NOTICE OF VARYING AMOUNTS. If your regular payments vary in amount, the person you are going to pay will tell you, at least 10 days before each payment, when it will be made and how much it will be. You may choose instead to get this notice only when the payment would differ by more than a certain amount from the previous payment, or when the amount would fall outside certain limits that you set.

YOUR RIGHT TO STOP PAYMENT

- STOP PAYMENT PROCEDURE. If you have told us in advance to make regular payments out of your account, you can stop any of these payments by (i) calling us at our toll-free number; (ii) making a stop payment request online; or (iii) writing to us in time for us to receive your request three business days or more before the payment is scheduled to be made. Our applicable toll-free number and address are listed in the Bank Contacts section at the end of this document. If you call, we may require you to put your request in writing and to get it to us within 14 days after you call. Normal service charges apply for each stop payment order requested.
- FAILURE TO STOP PAYMENT OF PREAUTHORIZED TRANSFER.
 If you order us to stop one of these payments at least three business days before the transfer is scheduled, and we do not do so, we will be liable for your losses or damages caused by our failure.

OUR LIABILITY FOR FAILURE TO MAKE TRANSFERS

If we do not complete a transfer to or from your account on time or in the correct amount according to our agreement with you, we will be liable for your losses or damages caused by such failure. However, there are some exceptions. We will NOT be liable, for instance:

- If, through no fault of ours, you do not have enough money in your account to make the transfer.
- If the transfer would exceed the credit limit available on your account(s).
- If the ATM where you are making the transaction does not have enough cash.
- If the terminal or the ATM system was not working properly and you knew about the breakdown when you started the transaction.
- If circumstances beyond our control (such as fire or flood) prevent the transaction, despite reasonable precautions that we have taken.

There may be other exceptions stated in our agreements with you or permitted by law.

YOUR LIABILITY FOR UNAUTHORIZED TRANSFERS

When you use your card or authorize anyone else to use your card, you agree to be bound by the provisions of this Agreement, to be responsible for all authorized transfers, withdrawals and transactions made by use of the card, and to be responsible for unauthorized use of the card to the extent permitted by law.

Tell us **AT ONCE** if you believe your card or your PIN has been lost or stolen, or if you believe that an electronic fund transfer has been made without your permission using information from your check. Telephoning is the best way of keeping your possible losses down. You could lose all the money in your account, plus the maximum amount of any line of credit (such as a Checkline Reserve or EquityLine) or savings account linked to your account for overdraft protection transfer purposes. If you believe your card or PIN has been lost or stolen, and you tell us within two business days after you learn of the loss or theft, you can lose no more than \$50 for unauthorized transactions using your card. If you do **NOT** tell us within two business days after you learn of the loss or theft of your card or PIN, and we can prove we could have stopped

someone from using your card or PIN without your permission if you had told us, you could lose as much as \$500 for the unauthorized transactions. Losses could include not only the money in your account, but also advances on any credit line associated with your account. Also, if your statement shows transfers that you did not make, including those made by card, PIN or other means, tell us at once. If you do not tell us within 60 days after the statement documenting the transfer was made available to you, you may not get back any money you lost after the 60 days if we can prove that we could have stopped someone from taking the money if you had told us in time. If a good reason (such as a long trip or a hospital stay) kept you from telling us, we may extend the time periods.

CONTACT US IN THE EVENT OF A LOST OR STOLEN CARD/UNAUTHORIZED TRANSFER. If you believe your card or PIN has been lost or stolen or that someone, without your permission, has transferred or may transfer money from your account, including a transfer made using the information from your check, CALL US IMMEDIATELY at the toll-free number listed in the "Bank Contacts" section at the end of this document. If you cannot reach us by telephone, email or write to us using the contact information listed in the "Bank Contacts" section. Remember, if you maintain the confidentiality of your PIN, it will reduce the possibility of the unauthorized use of your card. DO NOT write your PIN on your card.

ERROR RESOLUTION

Call us at the toll-free number listed in the "Bank Contacts" section at the end of this document as soon as you can if you think your statement or receipt is wrong or if you need more information about a transfer listed on the statement or receipt. Alternatively, you may visit your local branch office or write to us at the address provided in the "Bank Contacts" section. We must hear from you no later than 60 days after we make available to you the **FIRST** statement on which the problem or error appeared.

When you notify us:

- Tell us your name and account number.
- Describe the error or the transfer you are unsure about (including the date that it occurred), and explain as clearly as you can why you believe it is an error or why you need more information.
- Tell us the dollar amount of the suspected error.

If you tell us in person or by telephone of a suspected error, we may require that you follow up your oral notice or questions in writing. We must receive this writing within 10 business days of your oral notice. We will determine whether an error occurred within 10 business days after we hear from you and will correct any error promptly. If we need more time, however, we may take up to 45 days to investigate your complaint or questions. If we decide to do this, we will provisionally credit your account within 10 business days for the amount you think is in error so that you will have the use of the money during the time it takes us to complete our investigation. If we ask you to put your complaint or question in writing and we do not receive it within 10 business days, we may not provisionally credit your account.

For errors involving new accounts, point-of-sale debit card transactions or foreign-initiated transactions, we may take up to 90 days to investigate your complaint or question. For new accounts, we may take up to 20 business days to provisionally credit your account for the amount you think is in error.

We will tell you the results within three business days after completing our investigation. If we decide that there was no error, we will send you a written explanation. You may ask for copies of the documents that we used in our investigation.

E. ATM SAFETY TIPS

Although it is rare, ATM crime can happen. For your safety, please follow these recommendations when using any ATM:

- Commit your PIN (Personal Identification Number) to memory and never share your PIN.
- As you approach an ATM, be aware of your surroundings, particularly at night. If you observe suspicious persons or circumstances, do not use the ATM at that time.
- Wait until previous customers have finished their transactions at the ATM.
- Have your card ready and in your hand as you approach the ATM.
 Don't wait to get to the ATM and then take your card out of your wallet or purse.
- Inspect the ATM for possible skimming devices. A skimming device is a counterfeit card reader placed over the ATM's real card slot. When you slide your card into an ATM where a skimming device has been installed, the reader scans and stores all the information on the card's magnetic strip. The following are possible indicators that an illegal skimming device has been installed: a sticky residue or other evidence of adhesives on the ATM, scratches, damaged or crooked pieces, loose or extra attachments on the card slot, or noticeable resistance when pressing the keypad.
- Make sure no one can see you enter your PIN at the ATM. Use your other hand to shield the ATM keypad as you enter your PIN.
- Always take your receipts or transaction records with you to maintain the confidentiality of your account.
- Do not count or display any money you receive from the ATM. Put the money immediately in your pocket or purse and count it later.

If using a drive-through ATM:

- Make sure passenger windows are shut and all doors are locked as you approach the ATM.
- Pull up close to the ATM, remain in your car, and keep your car running while using the ATM.
- If you have to leave your car and walk to the ATM, lock your car.

If using an ATM at night:

- Select an ATM in an open, well-lighted area.
- Park close to ATM and take another person with you if you must leave your car.
- If lights at ATM are not working, or if there is overgrown shrubbery around the ATM, select another ATM and notify the bank.

F. BANK CONTACTS

Telephone

1.888.FC DIRECT (1.888.323.4732)

Mailing Address

First Citizens Bank FC Direct/Customer Engagement Center DAC 54 P.O. Box 27131 Raleigh, NC 27611-7131

Website

firstcitizens.com



1.888.FC DIRECT firstcitizens.com

Member FDIC. Equal Housing Lender 畗

